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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,
On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of King’s Flair International (Holdings) Limited (the
“Company”), I am pleased to present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2015.

BUSINESS REVIEW
The year 2015 was a tremendous year for the Group, during which the Group again achieved record sales and
profitability and we had completed the initial public offering process of listing (the “Listing”) the Company’s shares on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and our shares commenced trading
on 16 January 2015. We continue to grow as one of the pre-eminent kitchenware design and supply firm in our industry
and go from strength to strength both financially and operationally.
During the year, the Group has delivered a satisfactory performance and achieved steady growth in sales. Total revenue
rose by approximately 2.6% to approximately HK$1,394.6 million, as compared to that of approximately HK$1,359.5
million for the year 2014. Revenue growth was principally resulted from increased orders received from the existing
customers as well as the new orders placed by new customers.
Gross profit was approximately HK$304.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2015 and the gross profit margin
increased by approximately 21.0% to approximately 21.9% for the year as compared to 18.1% for the year 2014. The
profit for the year increased by approximately 73.9% to approximately HK$162.1 million as compared to HK$93.2
million for the year 2014. During the year under review, cost of sales of the Group decreased by approximately 2.1% to
approximately HK$1,089.7 million as compared to that of approximately HK$1,113.5 million in 2014. Cost of sales as a
percentage of revenue decreased slightly to 78.1% for the year ended 31 December 2015 as compared to that of 81.9%
for the year ended 31 December 2014. The lower cost of sales of the Group was mainly resulted from the lower cost of
materials caused by the following occasional factors in the macro economy.
The first is the unexpected significant and continuous drop in the price of commodities in the year of 2015. As the raw
materials used for our products are mainly crude oil based commodities, the prices of raw materials were affected by the
fluctuation in crude oil prices. During the year, the Group benefited from lower costs of certain raw materials due to lower
commodity prices.
In addition, the devaluation of Renminbi (“RMB”) in August 2015 also contributed to lower those production cost which
were principally settled in RMB.
These resulted in the price quotation of our products not having taken in these market factors and hence higher profit
margin was enjoyed by the Group under this time lag. However, such higher profit margin did not sustain as the Group
reviewed the price together with the customers in order to reflect the market situation of the decrease of raw material
prices and the fluctuation of RMB as well.
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On top of this, administrative expenses decreased by approximately 18.3% to approximately HK$97.6 million in the year
2015 comparing with approximately HK$119.5 million in year 2014, which is mainly due to the decrease in legal and
professional fee as approximately HK$13.3 million was one-off listing fee and other professional expenses incurred in the
year ended 31 December 2014 for the listing but which would not recur in year 2015. This, together with a decrease in
loss on exchange of approximately HK$3.6 million and consultancy fee of approximately of HK$4.3 million resulted in the
reduction of approximately HK$21.9 million in administrative expenses comparing with year 2014.
As a result, the profit for the year increased and approximately 31.8% of such increase was attributed to the decrease in
administrative expenses which in turn was mainly due to the one-off listing fee and the other legal and professional fees
for the listing not being recurrent for 2015 and a reduction in loss of exchange and consultancy fee as mentioned above,
and the remaining balance mainly attributable to the macro economic factors leading to a lower costs of products as
mentioned above.
In terms of operation, I am pleased to report that we continue to make progress on the design capability enhancement
and sales growth commitments we made in our prospectus dated 31 December 2014 (the “Prospectus”).
The Group has been built over the years with a clear focus on offering our clients differentiated first-class services that
combine innovative design with quality product and intensive engineering capabilities. We have continued to invest
in human resources, hardware and software to ensure we remain competitive in our ability to support our customers
delivering quality products to market in ever-shortening timeframes.

A POSITIVE FUTURE
With our three decades of experience in the global kitchenware business, we believe we are well positioned to build on
the record financial performance we achieved during the year ended 31 December 2015 and for continued growth over
the long term.
I am confident that the Group has the strategy to take us forward in the fast evolving global market for kitchenware
products. With the anticipation of the continuous growth in the China market, the Group will put more effort to strengthen
our cooperation with the brand-owners by establishing strategic partnership in order to increase the penetration of our
products to the China market to increase our market share. We will also further drive our international sales strategy in
tandem with continued research and investment into expanding our market penetration in China, including exhibiting at
various trade exhibitions worldwide for us to showcase our product design and reach the merchandisers from the globe.
The market is growing rapidly and I am pleased to report that we too are growing with our valuable established clients
from the US and Europe as well as developing relationship with potential new clients in China, Eastern Europe, Africa and
South America.
As the market grows, so does competition. It is in light of this competition we are now actively investing in patentable
design to further protect our sales growth and market penetration.
In closing, I would like to thank every one of our global customers, business partners and family of dedicated employees
for their continued support and our shareholders for their trust in us to create value for them and continue the growth and
development of the business.

Wong Siu Wah
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
30 March 2016
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Wong Siu Wah
Aged 59, founded the business of our Group in 1984 and was appointed as the Chairman and Executive Director on
25 June 2012 and held various positions within our Group. Mr. Wong has been a director of King’s Flair Development
Limited (“King’s Flair Development”), a major operating subsidiary of our Company which is engaged in design,
development and supply of kitchenware products, since 1989 and has been involved in business development and
product engineering of kitchenware products in King’s Flair Development. Mr. Wong has approximately 30 years
of management and operation experience gained from the business operation of our Group. Mr. Wong is the Chief
Executive Officer and is primarily responsible for the overall corporate strategic planning and corporate management of
our Group. Mr. Wong is a member of the advisory committee for the department of mechanical engineering of the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University since 2012. Mr. Wong is the spouse of Ms. Rebecca Cheng, a controlling shareholder of the
Company, and the father of Ms. Wong Fook Chi, an Executive Director.

Ms. Wong Fook Chi
Aged 32, joined our Group in 2006 and was appointed as an Executive Director on 25 June 2012 and held various
positions within our Group. She has over 9 years of experience in the management and operation of kitchenware
business gained from the business operation of our Group. Ms. Wong oversees the business operation and corporate
strategy implementations of our Group. Ms. Wong previously held various positions in our Group in relation to sales,
merchandising and relationship management. In 2006, Ms. Wong obtained a bachelor of science degree from the
University of Toronto in Canada. In 2015, Ms. Wong obtained a master degree in the Executive MBA program from the
University of Chicago. Ms. Wong is the daughter of Mr. Wong Siu Wah, the Chairman and an Executive Director, and the
step-daughter of Ms. Rebecca Cheng, a controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Wong Ying Wai Dennis
Aged 42, was appointed as an Executive Director on 20 August 2014. Mr. Wong has over 14 years of experience in the
kitchenware industry gained from the business operation of Wonder Household Limited (“Wonder Household”) which
became a member of the Group since 31 December 2013. Mr. Wong is primarily responsible for the business operation
and corporate management of the Group. From 12 April 2005 to 30 May 2012, Mr. Wong was a director of Wonder
Household, and was responsible for its business development and corporate strategic planning. In 1998, Mr. Wong
obtained a bachelor degree of commerce in management and organisational behavior from the University of Auckland in
New Zealand.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Dr. Lau Kin Tak
Aged 47, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 22 December 2014. Dr. Lau is currently an
associate dean (industrial relations) of faculty of engineering of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Dr. Lau has over 10
years of experience in the mechanical engineering academic field gained from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
has 3 years of experience as a craft apprentice in the Hong Kong Aircraft Engineering Company Limited (Stock Exchange
stock code: 0044) which engages in aircraft engineering and maintenance business. Dr. Lau is a fellow of the Institution
of Engineers Australia; a fellow of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers; a fellow of the Institute of Materials, Minerals
and Mining; a fellow of the Institution of Engineering Designers; a fellow of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers; and
a member of European Academy of Sciences. In 2001, Dr. Lau was awarded a doctor of philosophy (PhD) by the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. In 1997 and 1996, Dr. Lau obtained a master degree and a bachelor degree, respectively,
of engineering in aerospace engineering in the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology in Australia.

Mr. Anthony Graeme Michaels
Aged 72, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 22 December 2014. Mr. Michaels has 36 years
of combined industry experience gained from DKSH Australia Pty Ltd. (“DKSH Australia”) and its former entities Zyliss
Australia Pty Ltd. and United Housewares Pty Ltd. During his service in DKSH Australia, it was a subsidiary of DKSH
Holding AG (Ltd) (“DKSH”) which was a company listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange, and which primarily engaged in
the provision of market expansion services with a focus on Asia. During Mr. Michaels’ service, DKSH Australia carried a
variety of international brands in lifestyle and luxury categories, including but not limited to Zwilling JA Henckels, Zyliss,
Staub, Cole & Mason, Culinare, Microplane, Marcato, Contigo, Tala, Cuisena, Progressive, Jamie Oliver and Metaltex.
Mr. Michaels was Managing Director of the Consumer Goods Business Units of DKSH Australia and New Zealand. Mr.
Michaels retired from DKSH Australia in July 2012.

Ms. Leung Wai Ling, Wylie
Aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 22 December 2014. Ms. Leung currently serves
as the company secretary of Hong Wei (Asia) Holdings Company Limited (Stock Exchange stock code: 8191). Ms.
Leung possesses over 10 years experience in the finance and accounting. Ms. Leung worked as the financial controller
of subsidiaries of Casablanca Group Limited (Stock Exchange stock code: 2223) for over 1 year; the financial controller
of Guangzhou TWS Electronics Limited for over 4 years; and an auditor at Ernst & Young for over 3 years. Ms. Leung is
currently a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. In 1992, Ms. Leung obtained a bachelor
degree in business administration from the City University of New York in the U.S.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Wong Chi Man
Aged 50, joined our Group in 1997 and is the supply chain and logistic manager of our Group. Mr. Wong is primarily
responsible for the overall supplier management and oversees the supplies network and production capacity. He is also
responsible for the management of the shipping department and the logistic arrangement of our Group. Mr. Wong has
approximately 18 years experience in quality control and production coordination gained from the business operation of
our Group.
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Mr. Wong Lok Hey
Aged 33, joined our Group in 2008, is the R&D development manager of our Group. Mr. Wong is primarily responsible
for product design and product development of our Group. Mr. Wong has approximately 7 years of kitchenware design
and development experience gained from our Group. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Wong has over 3 years marketing
experience in bathware industry. In 2008, Mr. Wong obtained a master degree of science in engineering (mechanical
engineering) from the University of Hong Kong and, in 2005, obtained a bachelor degree of engineering in mechanical
engineering from the University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Po Tien Chu Ronnie
Aged 45, joined our Group in 2013 as the financial controller of our Group and is also the company secretary of our
Company. Mr. Po is responsible for financial and accounting management, taxation and compliance of our Group. Mr.
Po has over 10 years of experience in auditing and accounting field including over 6 years in Ernst & Young, 3 years in
UHY Vocation HK CPA Limited and 1 year in BDO Limited. Mr. Po is a member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. In
1992, Mr. Po obtained a bachelor degree of arts in business studies and in 2005, Mr. Po obtained a master degree of
professional accounting both from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Chow Chi Wai, Kevin
Aged 48, joined our Group in 2003, is a regional manager, sales and marketing of our Group. Mr. Chow is primarily
responsible for the business development and customer relationships of the worldwide (excluding China) business of
our Group. Mr. Chow has over 11 years experience in kitchenware business development gained from the business
operation of our Group. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Chow has approximately 10 years experience in marketing and
merchandising field.

Mr. Chan Chi Man, Arthur
Aged 33, joined our Group in 2010, is the quality assurance manager of our Group. Mr. Chan is primarily responsible
for the management of the quality control of our Group. Mr. Chan has over 5 years experience in the kitchenware
industry gained from the business operation of our Group. Between June 2010 and June 2013, Mr. Chan was a senior
merchandiser of Wonder Household. Before joining our Group, Mr. Chan has over 5 years experience in sales and
marketing filed. In 2011, Mr. Chan obtained a master degree of science in quality management from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and, in 2006, obtained a bachelor degree of science (honors) in computer studies from City
University of Hong Kong.
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BUSINESS REVIEW
The Group is an integrated one-stop kitchenware product solution provider to internationally renowned kitchenware
brands. Headquartered in Hong Kong, the Group provides differentiating and customised services from market research,
concept creation, product design and development to raw material sourcing, production engineering as well as quality
assurance, order tracking and logistics. This comprehensive and bespoke service platform has successfully differentiated
the Group among kitchenware solution providers in the industry and gained us the trust from high-end kitchenware brand
owners in North America, Europe and Asia.
Core products of the Group include kitchen tools and gadgets, drinkware, bakeware and accessories and food
preparation and storage products and accessories.

OPERATIONAL REVIEW
Differentiated services is the key to enhance customer loyalty
With a strong commitment in providing differentiated services and reinforcing its competitive advantages, the Group
continued to strengthen its product design, development and engineering capabilities in 2015. As at 31 December 2015,
the Group had 7 professionals focusing on market research, data analysis, product designs and development, helping
our clients in monitoring consumer demands and setting the latest trends in kitchenware. These capabilities differentiated
us among our peers and fortified our strategic partnership with our customers.
7 engineers form the Group’s product engineering team. With strong background in industrial designs as well as
experiences in manufacturing, the engineering team provides innovative raw material ideas and cost-effective solutions to
streamline the overall manufacturing process. As at 31 December 2015, the Group has a team of over 90 quality assurance
professionals stationed at or near the production factories in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). No major quality
control issues or complaints were reported in the year 2015.

International clientele
The Group has an extensive sales network and international clientele. In the year ended 31 December 2015, clients from
the United States of America (US) contributed over 87.0% of overall revenue. Europe, Asia and Canada contributed 5.4%,
4.6% and 2.2%, respectively, and the Group received orders from over 100 customers.
In addition to maintaining solid partnership with its existing customers, the Group also endeavored to explore new
business opportunities. In 2015, the Group exhibited in several trade fairs in Hong Kong and participated in The
Ambiente Frankfurt, one of the most important homeware and gift trade shows in Europe. Via such platforms, the Group
has showcased its product design and development capabilities and has reached merchandisers from around the globe
while also closely tracked the latest innovation and design trends in the industry.
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FUTURE STRATEGY
The Group has set strong foot-holds in the global kitchenware industry, especially in the high-end market. Leveraging
on its success and foundation, the Group will continue to seek growth in our existing overseas market while pursuing
breakthrough in the PRC market. In 2016, the Group plans to recruit more talents in both design and engineering level,
aiming to enhance our capability in product innovation and better cater the demand of our customers. Mid-tier and highend kitchenware markets will continue to be the Group’s focus and the Group will continue to participate in major trade
shows to further broaden our customer base in these markets. Through these trade shows and by working with local
importers and trade agents, the Group will also actively explore business opportunities in emerging markets namely
Eastern Europe, Africa and South America. In view of the increase in discretionary income and the fast growing middleclass, the Group believes the consumption demand in these markets for mid to high-end kitchenware with chic designs
will be gradually unleashed.
Closer to home, the Group will focus on developing the retail kitchenware chain and further penetrate the PRC market.
Against the backdrop of economic turmoil, the retail sentiment in the PRC has faced difficulties in the past two years.
However, the Group believes that the large population of middle-class consumers in the PRC is still craving for quality
products in pursuit of high standards of living quality. Therefore, the Group will adopt a prudent yet decisive approach
towards expansion. On top of the physical channels, the Group will continue to nurture its e-commerce platform with an
aim to enlarge market shares in the PRC.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
Benefiting from our differentiation strategy with our strong design and engineering skills, the Group again achieved steady
growth in sales in a highly competitive market. With increased order levels from existing customers as well as the orders
placed by new customers, during the financial year ended 31 December 2015, our total revenue reached approximately
HK$1,394.6 million, representing an increase of approximately 2.6% as compared to that of approximately HK$1,359.5
million in 2014.
The price of our products is determined based on variety of factors including cost of raw materials, production costs
and profit margin. As a result of the drop in the price of raw materials and the devaluation of RMB during the year under
review, the Group revised price quotations in accordance with the market situation and hence the growth of revenue
slowed down in the second half of year 2015.
In 2015, the aggregate revenue derived from the five largest customers increased by approximately 6.2% to
approximately HK$1,177.8 million as compared to that of approximately HK$1,109.4 million in 2014.
In addition to maintaining the business with our existing customers whom we expect will continue to contribute a large
percentage of the Group’s revenue, the Group is also actively diversifying and expanding our customer base with the aim
to sustain the growth of our revenue.

Cost of sales
During the year under review, cost of sales of the Group decreased by approximately 2.1% to approximately HK$1,089.7
million as compared to that of approximately HK$1,113.5 million in 2014. Cost of sales as a percentage of revenue
decreased slightly to 78.1% for the year ended 31 December 2015 as compared to that of 81.9% for the year ended 31
December 2014. The lower cost of sales of the Group was mainly resulted from the lower cost of materials caused by
the following occasional factors in the macro economy.
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The first is the unexpected significant and continuous drop in the price of commodities in the year of 2015. As the raw
materials used for our products are mainly crude oil based commodities, the prices of raw materials were affected by the
fluctuation in crude oil prices. During the year, the Group benefited from lower costs of certain raw materials due to lower
commodity prices.
In addition, the devaluation of RMB in August 2015 also contributed to lower those production cost which were
principally settled in RMB. The management believes that the foreign exchange market is still volatile but the fluctuation
is temporary after the president of the People’s Bank of China assured that there is no basis of persistent devaluation of
RMB.

Gross profit and gross profit margin
The Group’s gross profit increased by approximately 24.0% to approximately HK$304.9 million for the financial year
ended 31 December 2015 (2014: HK$245.9 million) and the gross profit margin increased by approximately 21.0% to
approximately 21.9% for the year of 2015 (2014: 18.1%).
During the year 2015, the unexpected significant drop of raw material prices and the devaluation of RMB resulted in the
price quotation of our products not having taken in these market factors and hence higher profit margin was enjoyed
by the Group under this time lag. However, such higher profit margin did not sustain as the Group reviewed the price
together with the customers in order to reflect the market situation of the decrease of raw material prices and the
fluctuation of RMB as well.

Other income
In the financial year ended 31 December 2015, other income decreased by approximately 42.7% to approximately
HK$7.1 million (2014: HK$12.4 million) primarily due to the decrease in recharge from customers.

Distribution expenses
Distribution expenses are primarily related to the PRC retail business. With the effort of the Group in cost control, the
distribution expenses slightly decreased to approximately HK$20.0 million in the financial year ended 31 December 2015
(2014: HK$21.9 million).

Administrative expenses
During the year 2015, administrative expenses decreased by approximately 18.3% to approximately HK$97.6 million
(2014: HK$119.5 million), which is mainly due to the decrease in legal and professional fee as approximately HK$13.3
million was one-off listing fee and other professional expenses incurred in the year ended 31 December 2014 for the
listing but which would not recur in year 2015. This, together with a decrease in loss on exchange of approximately
HK$3.6 million and consultancy fee of approximately HK$4.3 million resulted in the reduction of approximately HK$21.9
million in administrative expenses comparing with year 2014.

Profit for the year
During the financial year ended 31 December 2015, profit for the year increased by approximately 73.9% to
approximately HK$162.1 million (2014: HK$93.2 million). Approximately 31.8% of such increase was attributed to the
decrease in administrative expenses which in turn was mainly due to the one-off listing fee and the other legal and
professional fees for the listing not being recurrent for 2015 and a reduction in loss of exchange and consultancy fee as
mentioned above, and the remaining balance mainly attributable to the macro economic factors leading to a lower costs
of products as mentioned above.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
ON CAPITAL ASSETS
Save as disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements, there were no significant investment held as at 31 December
2015 nor were there other plans for material investments on capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED
COMPANIES
During the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the Group had not made any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries and associated companies.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE
As at 31 December 2015, the Group had cash and bank balances amounted to approximately HK$406.9 million (2014:
HK$125.2 million) which were mainly denominated in United States dollars (“USD”), RMB and Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”).
The Group’s total bank borrowings amounted to approximately HK$0.5 million (2014: HK$10.3 million) which were all
denominated in HKD. Interest is determined on the basis of Hong Kong Interbank Offering Rate or Prime Rate for HKD
borrowings.
There was no change to the Group’s capital structure since the Listing and up to the date of this annual report. In light of
the current financial position of the Group and provided there is no unforeseeable circumstance, the management does
not anticipate the need to change the capital structure. The annual interest rate of the bank borrowings during the year
ended 31 December 2015 was 2.5% (2014: 2.5%).

Gearing ratio
The Group’s gearing ratio is calculated as total borrowings, which is the summation of bank borrowings and loans from
non-controlling interests, divided by total equity. The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 were
4.8% and 15.2% respectively. The decrease of the gearing ratio was mainly due to the increase in equity balances arising
from the Listing.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE
The Group mainly earns revenue in USD and incurs cost in HKD and RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk with respect mainly to USD and RMB which may affect the Group’s performance. The management is aware of the
possible exchange rate exposure due to the continuing fluctuation of RMB and will closely monitor its impact on the
performance of the Group to see if any hedging policy is necessary. The Group currently does not have any hedging
policy.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s leasehold land and buildings with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$21.2 million (2014: HK$21.9 million) and pledged time deposit of HK$28.9 million (2014: HK$20.9 million) were
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE SHARE OFFER
The net proceeds from the Company’s share offer in January 2015 amounted to approximately HK$219.8 million
(after deducting underwriting commissions and all related expenses). Such net proceeds are intended to be or have
been applied in accordance with the proposed application as set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds” in the Prospectus. As at 31 December 2015, approximately HK$36.4 million of the proceeds raised has
been utilised and the unused proceeds were deposited in licensed banks in Hong Kong. In the event that the Directors
decided to use such net proceeds in a manner different from that stated in the Prospectus, the Company will issue
further announcement in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2015, the Group had no significant contingent liabilities (2014: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 December 2015, the Group has no significant outstanding capital commitment (2014: Nil).

13
King’s Flair International (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2015

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance and has steered its development
and protection of the interests of the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) in an enlightened and open manner.
The Board comprises three executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The Board has adopted
the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (“ CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules on the
Stock Exchange. Throughout the period since the date of the Listing on 16 January 2015 (the“Listing Date”) and up to 31
December 2015, the Company has complied with the CG Code, except for code provision A.2.1, which provides that,
among other things, the role of chairman of the board and the chief executive officer of a listed issuer shall be separate
and shall not be performed by the same individual.
Mr. Wong Siu Wah (“Mr. Wong”) is both the chief executive officer and the chairman of the Board of the Company which
deviates from code provision A.2.1. The Board considers that vesting the role of both chairman and chief executive
officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and enables more effective
and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board believes that the balance of power and authority for the
present arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately ensured by the current Board composition and structure
taking into account the background and experience of the Directors and the number of independent non-executive
Directors on the Board.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY THE DIRECTORS
The Directors have adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct for Directors in dealing in the Company’s securities.
Specific enquiries have been made to all Directors and all Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with the
required standard of dealings as set out in the Model Code since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board is committed to providing effective and responsible leadership for the Company. The Directors, individually and
collectively, must act in good faith in the best interests of the Company and its Shareholders. The Board has established
four Board committees, being the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Risk Management Committee (each a “Board Committee” and collectively the “Board Committees”), to oversee different
areas of the Company’s affairs.
The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Wah, Ms. Wong Fook Chi, Mr. Wong
Ying Wai Dennis and three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Dr. Lau Kin Tak, Mr. Anthony Graeme Michaels
and Ms. Leung Wai Ling, Wylie.
Their biographical details and (where applicable) their family relationships are set out in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 6 to 8 in this annual report. A list of the Directors identifying their
role and function and whether they are independent non-executive Directors are available on the Stock Exchange’s and
the Company’s website.
The Board sets the Group’s overall objectives and strategies, monitors and evaluates its operating and financial
performance and reviews the corporate governance standard of the Group. It also decides on matters such as annual
and interim results, major transactions, director appointments or re-appointments, investment policy, dividend and
accounting policies. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for implementing its business strategies and
managing the daily operations of the Group’s businesses to the executive Directors and members of senior management.
The functions and power that are so delegated are reviewed periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate.
The Board is also responsible for developing, reviewing and monitoring the policies and practices on corporate
governance and legal and regulatory compliance of the Group, and the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management. The Board also reviews the disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report to
ensure compliance. All Board members have separate and independent access to the Group’s senior management to
fulfill their duties. Independent professional advice can be sought to assist the relevant Directors to discharge their duties
at the Group’s expense upon their request.
All Directors are required to declare to the Board upon their first appointment, the directorships or other positions they
are concurrently holding at other companies or organizations. These interests are updated on an annual basis and when
necessary.
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The attendance of Directors at the Board Meetings, the Board Committees Meetings and General Meeting is set out in
the table below:
Meetings Attended/Held
Board
Meeting

Audit
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Nomination
Committee

Risk
Management
Committee

Annual
General
Meeting

Executive Director
Mr. Wong Siu Wah
Ms. Wong Fook Chi
Mr. Wong Ying Wai Dennis

4/4
4/4
4/4

N/A
N/A
N/A

2/2
2/2
N/A

1/1
N/A
N/A

N/A
1/1
N/A

1/1
1/1
1/1

Independent Non-Executive
Director
Dr. Lau Kin Tak
Mr. Anthony Graeme Michaels
Ms. Leung Wai Ling, Wylie

4/4
4/4
4/4

3/3
3/3
3/3

2/2
2/2
2/2

1/1
1/1
1/1

1/1
N/A
1/1

1/1
1/1
1/1

Director

The Board is dedicated to comply with the Code Provision that at least four board meetings are held a year at
approximately quarterly interval. Due to the strategic business schedule, the fourth board meeting was postponed and
held on 13 January 2016, within a year from the date of the first board meeting in 2015, under the unanimous consent
of all of the Board members. All of the Board members actively participated in board meetings and attendance rate of
100% was recorded in the four meetings.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE
Appropriate insurance coverage has been arranged in respect of potential legal actions against the Directors and officers
of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
All Directors are aware of their responsibilities to the Shareholders and have exercised their duties with care, skill and
diligence, in pursuit of the development of the Group. Every newly appointed Director receives an induction to ensure that
he has a proper understanding of the business and operations of the Group and that he is fully aware of his duties and
responsibilities as a director under applicable rules and requirements.
All Directors are provided with regularly updates on the Company’s performance and financial position to enable
the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition, briefings and updates on the latest
development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements are provided to each of the
Directors to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
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The Directors understand the importance of continuous professional development and are committed to participate in
suitable training to develop their knowledge and skills.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The role of the independent non-executive Directors is to provide independent and objective opinions to the Board,
giving adequate control and balances for the Group to protect the overall interests of the Shareholders and the Group.
They serve actively on the Board and its committees to provide their independent and objective views.
In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent nonexecutive Directors, representing more than one-third of the Board. One of the independent non-executive Directors
namely, Ms. Leung Wai Ling, Wylie, has the appropriate professional qualifications in accounting or related financial
management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
Each independent non-executive Director has submitted confirmation of his independence to the Company pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the contents of such confirmations, the Company considers that all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board is supported by four committees, namely the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration
Committee and the Risk Management Committee. Each Board Committee has its defined and written terms of reference
approved by the Board covering its duties, powers and functions. Their terms of reference are available on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
All Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties, including access to management
or professional advice if considered necessary.

(i)

Audit committee
The Audit Committee was established on 22 December 2014 in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.
The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Leung Wai Ling, Wylie,
Dr. Lau Kin Tak and Mr. Anthony Graeme Michaels. Ms. Leung Wai Ling, Wylie, who has appropriate professional
qualifications and experience in accounting matters, was appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee.
The principal duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing, supervising and providing an
independent view of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal control and risk management
system, to oversee the audit process and to perform other duties as assigned by the Board.
The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended 31 December 2015. At the meetings, the Audit
Committee has reviewed the interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2015 and the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2014, including the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and report prepared by the external auditor covering major findings in the course of the
audit. The final result for the year ended 31 December 2015 were reviewed by the Audit Committee in March 2016.
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(ii)

Remuneration committee
The Remuneration Committee was established on 22 December 2014. The Remuneration Committee comprises
three independent non-executive Directors and two executive Directors, namely Dr. Lau Kin Tak, Mr. Anthony
Graeme Michaels, Ms. Leung Wai Ling, Wylie, Mr. Wong and Ms. Wong Fook Chi. Dr. Lau Kin Tak is the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Board on, among
other matters, our Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and senior management
and has been delegated the responsibility to determine on behalf of the Board the specific remuneration packages
for all Executive Directors and senior management.
The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year to review the Group’s remuneration policy for the
Directors and senior management for the year ended 31 December 2015.
Particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid employees as required to be disclosed
pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in note 11 to the financial statements.

(iii) Nomination committee
The Nomination Committee was established on 22 December 2014. It comprises three independent non-executive
Directors and one executive Director, namely Dr. Lau Kin Tak, Mr. Anthony Graeme Michaels, Ms. Leung Wai Ling,
Wylie and Mr. Wong. Mr. Wong is the Chairman of the Nomination committee.
The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31 December 2015. The principal
responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include devising criteria for Board membership, regularly reviewing
the need for various skills and experience on the Board and identifying specific individuals for nomination as
Directors for review by the Board. The Nomination Committee also evaluates the Board’s performance and makes
recommendations for the appointment and re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

(iv) Risk management committee
The Company established a Risk Management Committee pursuant to a resolution of the Directors passed on
22 December 2014. The primary duties of the Risk Management Committee are to review the Company’s risk
management policies and standards and supervise and monitor the Company’s exposure to sanction law risks.
The Risk Management Committee currently consisted of Ms. Wong Fook Chi, Dr. Lau Kin Tak and Ms. Leung Wai
Ling, Wylie and is currently chaired by Ms. Wong Fook Chi.
The Risk Management Committee held one meeting during the year to identify, evaluate, minimize, manage and
monitor business and control risks encountered by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION
The Company’s corporate governance function is carried out by the Board pursuant to a set of written terms of reference
in compliance with provision D.3.1 of the CG Code, which include (a) to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance; (b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development
of the Directors and senior management of the Group; (c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group and the Directors; and (e) to review the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and relevant disclosure in the corporate governance report of the annual report of the
Company.
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BOARD PROCEEDINGS
Regular board meetings are held at quarterly intervals with additional meetings convened as and when necessary to
discuss the overall strategic directions, the Group’s operations, financial performance, and to approve interim and annual
results and other significant matters. For regular meetings, Board members are given at least 14 days prior notice and
agenda with supporting papers are sent to Directors not less than 3 days before the relevant meeting is held. Directors
may propose to the Chairman or the Company Secretary to include matters in the agenda for regular board meetings.
Directors are requested to declare their direct or indirect interests, if any, in any proposals or transactions to be
considered by the Board at board meetings and abstain from voting in favour of the related board resolutions as
appropriate.
Minutes of meetings of the Board and Board Committees are kept by the Company Secretary in sufficient details of
the matters considered and decisions reached, including dissenting views expressed, and are open for inspection on
reasonable notice by any Director. Draft and final versions of minutes are sent to all Directors for their comments and
records respectively within a reasonable time after the board meeting is held.
All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary with a view to ensuring the Board
procedures are followed.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
Each of the executive Directors of the Company has entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial term
of three years commencing from the Listing Date and will continue thereafter until terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party. Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the date of appointment.
Each of the Directors will be subject to retirement and re-election at annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”) in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association.
In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, a person may be appointed as a Director either by the
Shareholders in general meeting or by the Board. Any Directors appointed by the Board as additional Directors or
to fill casual vacancies shall hold office until the next following general meeting, and are eligible for re-election by the
Shareholders. In addition, all Directors are required to retire by rotation at least once every three years at the AGM, and
are eligible for re-election by the Shareholders.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Po Tien Chu, Ronnie, the company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”), is a full time employee of the
Group and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. He also serves as the secretary of the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Risk Management Committee. Mr. Po Tien Chu,
Ronnie is responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman and/or the Chief Executive Officer on governance
matters.
The Company Secretary had duly complied with the relevant professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.
The biographical details of the Company Secretary is set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 6 to 8 in this annual report.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Financial reporting
The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Group’s financial statements which give a true and fair view of
the Group’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows for the year and in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The Group has selected appropriate accounting policies and
has applied them consistently based on prudent and reasonable judgements and estimates. The Board considers that
the Group has adequate resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future and not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may affect the business of the Group or cast doubts on its ability to
continue as going concern.
The responsibilities of BDO Limited, the Company’s external auditor, with respect to financial reporting are set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.

Internal controls
The Board recognizes its responsibility to ensure the Company maintains a sound and effective internal control system
and the Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group during the
year. The Group’s internal control system is designed to safeguard assets against misappropriation and unauthorized
disposition and to manage operational risks. Review of the Group’s internal controls covering major financial, operational
and compliance controls, as well as risk management functions of different systems has been done on a systematic basis
based on the risk assessments of the operations and controls. No major issue but areas for improvement have been
identified. The Board and the Audit Committee considered that the key areas of the Group’s internal control systems are
reasonably implemented.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR
BDO Limited has been appointed as the external auditor of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2015. The
Audit Committee has been notified of the nature and the service charges of non-audit services performed by BDO
Limited and considered that such services have no adverse effect on the independence of the external auditor.
During the year ended 31 December 2015, the remuneration paid and payable to BDO Limited is set out as below:
2015
HK$’000
Audit service
Non-audit services:
Professional service fees in relation to review of interim
financial information
Taxation services

880

70
114
1,064

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection and appointment of the
external auditor during the year ended 31 December 2015.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
The Company aims to, via its corporate governance structure, enable all its Shareholders an equal opportunity to
exercise their rights in an informed manner and allow all Shareholders to engage actively with the Company. Under the
Company’s articles of association, the Shareholders communication policy and other relevant internal procedures of the
Company, the Shareholders of the Company enjoy, among others, the following rights:

(i)

Participation at general meetings
The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for direct communication between the Board and the
Shareholders. The Company encourages the participation of the Shareholders through AGMs and other general
meetings where the Shareholders meet and exchange views with the Board, and to exercise their right to vote at
meetings. The Company shall arrange notices of meetings and circulars containing details on proposed resolutions
to be sent to the Shareholders not less than 20 clear business days before the AGMs and not less than 10 clear
business days for all other general meetings. At the general meetings, separate resolutions will be proposed on
each substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors.

(ii)

Enquiries and proposals to the Board
The Company encourages Shareholders to attend Shareholders’ meetings and make proposals by either directly
raising questions on both operational and governance matters to the Board and Board Committees at the general
meetings or providing written notice of such proposals for the attention of the Company Secretary at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong currently situated at 12/F, Yardley Commercial Building, 3
Connaught Road West, Hong Kong or via email to ir@kingsflair.com.hk.

(iii) Convening extraordinary general meetings
The Directors may, whenever they think fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting. Extraordinary general
meetings shall also be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Directors or the Company Secretary and deposited at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong currently situated at 12/F, Yardley Commercial Building,
3 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Directors for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Directors fail to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Directors shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
There are no provisions under the Company’s articles of association or the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands regarding procedures for Shareholders to put forward
proposals at general meetings other than a proposal of a person for election as director. Shareholders may follow
the procedures set out above to convene an extraordinary general meeting for any business specified in such
written requisition.
The notice of extraordinary general meeting together with the accompanying circular setting out the relevant
information as required under the Listing Rules shall be sent to Shareholders at least 10 clear business days prior
to the extraordinary general meeting. Poll voting has been adopted for decision-making at Shareholders’ meetings
to ensure that each share is entitled to one vote. Details of the poll voting procedures will be set out in the circular
sent to Shareholders prior to the meeting and explained at the commencement of the meeting. Voting results will
be posted on the Company’s website on the day of the extraordinary general meeting.
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(iv) Procedures for proposing a person for election as a Director
Pursuant to Article 85 of the articles of associations of the Company, no person other than a Director retiring at the
meeting shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for election as a Director at any general
meeting unless a written notice (“Notice”) signed by a Shareholder (other than the person to be proposed) duly
qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which such Notice is given of his intention to propose such person
for election. If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a Director for election as a Director at a general
meeting, the Shareholder shall lodge a Notice signed by himself and the person to be proposed of his willingness
to be elected at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong or at the Hong Kong share registrar
and transfer office of the Company provided that the minimum length of the period, during which such Notice(s) are
given, shall be at least seven (7) days and that (if the Notices are submitted after the despatch of the notice of the
general meeting appointed for such election) the period for lodgment of such Notice(s) shall commence on the day
after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than seven (7)
days prior to the date of such general meeting.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year ended 31 December 2015, there was no change in the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company.
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The Directors of the Company present their annual report together with the audited financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2015.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 25 June 2012 with limited liability and the issued shares of the
Company became listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 16 January 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal activities and other particulars of its
subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the financial statements of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW
A review of the business of the Group and an analysis of the Group’s performance during the year are provided
in “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 5 and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 13 of this
annual report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the Group is facing can be found in “Chairman’s
Statement” on pages 4 to 5 and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 13 of this annual report. Also,
the financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group can be found in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements.
No important events affecting the Group have occurred since the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2015.
The Group’s future business development is set out in “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 5 and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 13 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION
The consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 and the financial position of the Group at
that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 34 to 95 of this annual report.
The Board declared an interim dividend of HK$0.045 per share (2014: Nil) and a special dividend of HK$0.055 per share
(2014: Nil) for the year ended 31 December 2015. The interim and special dividends were paid on 22 September 2015.

FINAL DIVIDEND AND ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The Directors resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.065 per share amounting in aggregate to
approximately HK$45.5 million, which represent an approximately 27.8% dividend ratio. The payment of such dividends is
subject to the approval of Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM to be held on Friday, 24 June 2016 and are payable to
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the Company at the close of business on Tuesday, 12
July 2016. It is expected that the proposed final dividend will be paid on or about Tuesday, 26 July 2016. Notice of such
AGM will be published and despatched to shareholders of the Company in the manner required by the Listing Rules in
due course.
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CLOSURES OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
Annual General Meeting
In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming AGM, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Wednesday, 22 June 2016 to Friday, 24 June 2016, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to be entitled to attend and vote at the forthcoming AGM,
all transfers of shares of the Company accompanied by the relevant share certificates and properly completed transfer
forms must be lodged with the branch share registrar and transfer office of the Company in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m.
on Tuesday, 21 June 2016.

Final Dividends
In order to establish entitlements to the proposed final dividend, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Monday, 11 July 2016 to Tuesday, 12 July 2016, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of
the Company will be registered. In order to be qualified for the declared dividend, all transfers of shares of the Company
accompanied by the relevant share certificates and properly completed transfer forms must be lodged with the branch
share registrar and transfer office of the Company in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 8 July 2016.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the Group’s result, assets and liabilities for the last five financial years is set out on page 96 of this annual
report. The summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 31 to the financial
statements of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association, or the laws of Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 37 and in note 32 to the financial statements, respectively of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES OF THE COMPANY
During the financial year ended 31 December 2015, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 December 2015, distributable reserves of the Company calculated under the laws of Cayman Islands amounted
to HK$468,804,000 (2014: HK$246,323,000).
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION, DISPOSALS AND SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
During the year, the Group had not made any material acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries and associated
companies.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Total donations made by the Group for charitable and other purposes during the year amounted to HK$2,179,000
(2014: HK$ 3,135,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the
financial statements of this annual report.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS
Particulars of interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2015 are set out in note 28 to the
financial statements of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases attributable to the major customers and suppliers
respectively for the year is as follows:
Percentage of
the Group’s total
Sales Purchases
The largest customer
Five largest customers in aggregate
The largest supplier
Five largest suppliers in aggregate

51.1%
84.5%
21.1%
59.3%

At no time during the year have the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders of the Company (which to the
best knowledge of the directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in these major
customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wong Siu Wah
Ms. Wong Fook Chi
Mr. Wong Ying Wai Dennis

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Independent non-executive directors
Dr. Lau Kin Tak
Mr. Anthony Graeme Michaels
Ms. Leung Wai Ling, Wylie
In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, Mr. Wong Ying Wai Dennis and Mr. Anthony Graeme Michaels
shall retire at the forthcoming AGM and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.
Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 6 to 7 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date, which shall continue thereafter unless terminated by not less than three month’s
written notice served by either party.
Each of Dr. Lau Kin Tak, Mr. Anthony Graeme Michaels and Ms. Leung Wai Ling, Wylie, has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing from 22 December 2014.
In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, at every AGM of the Company one-third of the Directors for
the time being shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific
term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. None of the Directors proposed for reelection at the AGM has entered into any service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE
Save as those disclosed in the sub-section headed “Directors’ Service Contracts” above and “Connected Transactions
and Continuing Connected Transactions” below, none of the Directors, the controlling shareholders of the Company and/
or their respective close associates has a significant interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party at
any time during the year under review.
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CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE
During the year under review, save as disclosed in the sub-section headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions” below, no contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business in which the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or its holding company was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY UNDER THE SECURITIES
AND FUTURES ORDINANCE (CHAPTER 571) OF THE LAWS OF HONG KONG (THE “SFO”)
As at 31 December 2015, the interests or short positions of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations, within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”), as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Name of Director

Personal
interests

Wong Siu Wah
(“Mr. Wong”)

–

Long positions in the shares of the Company
Family
Corporate
Other
Interests
Interests
Interests

–

525,000,000
(Note)

–

Total

Percentage
(%)

525,000,000

75%

Note:
The 525,000,000 shares comprise 105,000,000 shares held by First Concord Limited, which is held as to 60% by Mr. Wong and as to 40%
by Ms. Cheng Rebecca Hew Hong (“Ms. Cheng”), and 420,000,000 Shares held by City Concord Limited, which is 100% held by Mr. Wong.
Accordingly, Mr. Wong is deemed to be interested in the shares held by First Concord Limited and City Concord Limited.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, none of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company had
any interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.
Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2015 was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
(including their respective spouse and children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the Group’s
business subsisted during the financial year under review.
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INTEREST AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
As at 31 December 2015, the following persons (not being the directors or chief executive of the Company) who had
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed to the
Company under the provision of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly interested in 10% or more of
the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other
member of the Group were as follows:

Name of Substantial Shareholder

Capacity/nature of interests

First Concord Limited (Note 2)
City Concord Limited (Note 3)
Ms. Cheng Rebecca Hew Hong

Beneficial owner
Beneficial owner
Interest of controlled corporation and
interest of spouse

Number of
Shares held
(Note 1)
105,000,000(L)
420,000,000(L)
525,000,000(L)

Approximate
percentage of
issued share
capital (%)
15%
60%
75%

Notes:
1.

The letter “L” denotes a long position in the Shareholder’s interest in the share capital of the Company.

2.

First Concord Limited is held as to 60% by Mr. Wong and 40% by Ms. Cheng. Mr. Wong and Ms. Cheng are both deemed to be
interested in the 105,000,000 shares held by First Concord Limited.

3.

City Concord Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Wong. Mr. Wong is therefore deemed to be interested in the 420,000,000
shares held by City Concord Limited. Ms. Cheng is deemed to be interested in the 420,000,000 shares held by City Concord Limited by
reason of her being the spouse of Mr. Wong.

Interests in other member(s) of the Group

Name of non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company
Homespan (HK) Limited
Manweal Development Limited
寧波家之良品國際貿易有限公司
(Ningbo Homesbrands International Trading
Company Limited)

Name of registered substantial
shareholders (other than members of
the Group)
Mr. Christopher Paul Liversey
Primehill Holdings Limited
Mr. Lin Zhao

Approximate
percentage of
issued share
capital (%)
44%
32%
25%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, the Directors were not aware of any other person having an interest
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO or who was directly or indirectly interested in 10% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other member of
the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME
On 22 December 2014, the Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
for the purposes of recognizing and acknowledging the contributions that eligible participants have made or may make
to our Group. The Share Option Scheme became unconditional and commenced on 16 January 2015 and will remain in
force for 10 years from Listing Date unless otherwise cancelled or amended.
Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include (i) any Director, employee, consultant, professional, customer,
supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the Group or a company in which the Group holds an interest or a
subsidiary of such company (“Affiliate”); or (ii) the trustee of any trust the beneficiary of which or any discretionary trust the
discretionary objects of which include any Director, employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner
or adviser of or contractor to our Group or an Affiliate; or (iii) a company beneficially owned by any Director, employee,
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner, adviser of or contractor to our Group or an Affiliate.
The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the Listing
Date (or 70,000,000 shares of the Company) (the “Limit”). Subject to the issue of a circular by the Company and the
approval of the Shareholders in general meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from
time to time, the Board may:
(i)

refresh the Limit at any time to 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of the approval of the Limit (as refreshed)
by the Shareholders in general meeting; or

(ii)

grant options beyond the Limit to eligible participants specifically identified by the Board before approval is sought.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the maximum number of shares to be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group must
not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from time to time. The maximum number of shares
issuable upon the exercise of options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
adopted by the Group (including both exercised, cancelled or outstanding options) to each grantee within any 12-month
period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of options in excess of this
1% limit shall be subject to: (i) the issue of a circular by the Company; and (ii) the approval of the Shareholders in general
meeting and/or other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time. Options granted to a director,
chief executive or substantial Shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject to approval in
advance by the independent non-executive Directors of the Company. In addition, any options granted to a substantial
Shareholder or an independent non-executive Director of the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of
0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of
the Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
Shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.
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The exercise period of the options granted is to be determined by the Board, which period may commence from the
date of the offer of the options, and ends on a date which is not later than ten years from the date of grant of the options
subject to the provisions for early termination thereof. There is no minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised. Participants of the Share Option Scheme are required to pay the Company non-refundable
HK$1 upon acceptance of the grant.
The exercise price of the options is to be determined by the Board, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares as quoted on the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant
of option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s shares as quoted on the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant of option; and (iii)
the nominal value of a share.
As at 31 December 2015, no options have been granted, exercised or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

LOANS TO OFFICERS
No loans were made to or outstanding from the Company’s officers at any time during the year or as at 31 December
2015.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 14
to 22 of this annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
There is no connected transactions or continuing connected transactions undertaken by the Group during the financial
year ended 31 December 2015 which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Disclosures in section headed “Related Party Transactions” in note 34 to the financial statements contain certain
continuing connected transactions which are fully exempt from annual review, Shareholders’ approval and all disclosure
requirements.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
As at 31 December 2015, the Group had approximately 142 employees (2014: 140 employees). Total staff costs (including
Directors’ emoluments) were approximately HK$54.8 million, as compared to approximately HK$56.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2014.
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The Group remunerates its employees based on their qualifications, performance, experience and prevailing industry
practice. Competitive remuneration package is offered to retain elite employees including salaries, medical insurance,
discretionary bonuses as well as mandatory provident fund schemes for employees in Hong Kong and state managed
retirement benefit schemes for employees in the PRC.
The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration Committee, having regards to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND TOP FIVE HIGHEST PAID PERSONS
Details of Directors’ remuneration and the top five highest paid persons are set out respectively in note 11 to the financial
statements of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
During the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the financial year ended 31 December 2015, none of the Directors or any of their respective close associates has
engaged in any business that competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group or,
save as disclosed in the sub-section headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” above,
have any other conflict of interests with the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
As far as the information publicly available to the Company is concerned and to the best knowledge of the Directors, at
least 25% of the Company’s issued share capital were held by members of the public (as defined in the Listing Rules) as
at the date of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
There have been no significant events taken place subsequent to 31 December 2015 until the date of this report.

AUDITOR
The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 have been audited by BDO Limited. A
resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint BDO Limited as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Wong Siu Wah
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 30 March 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KING’S FLAIR INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(INCORPORATED IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS WITH LIMITED LIABILITY)
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of King’s Flair International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 34 to 95, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2015, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2015 and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Lui Chi Kin
Practising Certificate Number P06162
Hong Kong, 30 March 2016
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For the year ended 31 December 2015

Notes
Revenue
Cost of sales

7

Gross profit
Other income
Distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

8

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

1,394,635
(1,089,690)

1,359,459
(1,113,522)

304,945
7,056
(20,037)
(97,607)

245,937
12,441
(21,925)
(119,454)

Operating profit
Finance costs

10

194,357
(250)

116,999
(349)

Profit before income tax
Income tax expenses

9
12

194,107
(32,031)

116,650
(23,496)

162,076

93,154

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets
Exchange difference arising on translation of foreign operations

(4,470)
463

5,949
12

Other comprehensive income for the year

(4,007)

5,961

Total comprehensive income for the year

158,069

99,115

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

163,545
(1,469)

95,146
(1,992)

162,076

93,154

159,291
(1,222)

101,088
(1,973)

158,069

99,115

HK$0.24
HK$0.24

HK$0.18
HK$0.18

Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share:
– Basic
– Diluted

13
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2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

46,875
1,874
172
–
14,419
4

33,685
2,021
172
–
19,225
5

63,344

55,108

10,064
127,689
51,738
33,821
187
321
28,904
406,922

10,200
144,639
35,901
38,291
2,046
528
20,895
125,211

659,646

377,711

66,752
57,986
480
9,448
6,718

90,198
43,294
10,268
14,239
7,832

141,384

165,831

Net current assets

518,262

211,880

Total assets less current liabilities

581,606

266,988

Notes
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid land lease payments
Other asset
Interest in an associate
Intangible asset
Deferred tax assets

15
16
17
18
19
30

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and bills receivables
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Available-for-sale financial assets
Amount due from an associate
Prepaid tax
Pledged bank deposits
Cash and bank balances

20
21
22
23
18
24
25

Current liabilities
Trade and bills payables
Deposits received, other payables and accruals
Bank borrowings
Loans from non-controlling interests
Provision for tax

26
27
28
29
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As at 31 December 2015

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

16,557
8,316

12,916
7,126

24,873

20,042

556,733

246,946

7,000
550,205

–
245,529

Non-controlling interests

557,205
(472)

245,529
1,417

Total equity

556,733

246,946

Notes
Non-current liabilities
Loans from non-controlling interests
Deferred tax liabilities

29
30

Net assets

EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital
Reserves

31
32

The consolidated financial statements on pages 34 to 95 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 30 March 2016 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wong Siu Wah
Director

Wong Fook Chi
Director
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Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Total
equity
HK$’000

Share
premium*
HK$’000

At 1 January 2014

–

–

(4,231)

8,138

1,450

2,867

186,217

194,441

3,390

197,831

Dividend to shareholders of a
subsidiary (note 14)

–

–

–

–

–

–

(50,000)

(50,000)

–

(50,000)

Transactions with owners

–

–

–

–

–

–

(50,000)

(50,000)

–

(50,000)

Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income
– Change in fair value of availablefor-sale financial assets
– Exchange difference arising
on translation of foreign
operations

–

–

–

–

–

–

95,146

95,146

(1,992)

93,154

–

–

–

5,949

–

–

–

5,949

–

5,949

–

–

–

–

(7)

–

–

(7)

19

12

Total comprehensive income
for the year

–

–

–

5,949

(7)

–

95,146

101,088

(1,973)

99,115

At 31 December 2014 and
1 January 2015

–

–

(4,231)

14,087

1,443

2,867

231,363

245,529

1,417

246,946

2015 interim dividend (note 14)
2015 special dividend (note 14)
Dividend to non-controlling
interests of a subsidiary
Capitalisation issue (note 31(b))
Share issued under public offer
and placing (note 31(c))
Share issue expenses

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

(31,500)
(38,500)

(31,500)
(38,500)

–
–

(31,500)
(38,500)

–
5,250

–
(5,250)

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

(667)
–

(667)
–

1,750
–

239,750
(19,115)

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

241,500
(19,115)

–
–

241,500
(19,115)

Transactions with owners

7,000

215,385

–

–

–

–

(70,000)

152,385

(667)

151,718

–

–

–

–

–

–

163,545

163,545

(1,469)

162,076

–

–

–

(4,470)

–

–

–

(4,470)

–

(4,470)

–

–

–

–

216

–

–

216

247

463

–

–

–

(4,470)

216

–

163,545

159,291

(1,222)

158,069

7,000

215,385

(4,231)

9,617

1,659

2,867

324,908

557,205

(472)

556,733

Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income
– Change in fair value of availablefor-sale financial assets
– Exchange difference arising
on translation of
foreign operations
Total comprehensive income
for the year
At 31 December 2015
*

Merger Revaluation Exchange
reserve* reserve* reserve*
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(note 32)

Noncontrolling
Other Retained
reserve*
profits* Sub-total interests
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Share
capital
HK$’000

The aggregate balances of these reserve accounts of HK$550,205,000 (2014: HK$245,529,000) are included as reserves as at 31
December 2015 in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

194,107

116,650

55
4,806
4,728
(695)
(866)
–
128
(1,264)
250

58
4,806
4,113
(691)
–
152
–
(23)
349

Operating profits before working capital changes
Decrease in inventories
Decrease in trade and bills receivables
(Increase)/Decrease in prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Decrease in amount due from an associate
Decrease in trade and bills payables
Increase in deposits received, other payables and accruals

201,249
8
16,950
(15,837)
1,859
(23,446)
14,692

125,414
25
15,467
2,277
4,914
(29,327)
15,365

Cash generated from operations
Income taxes paid

195,475
(31,747)

134,135
(14,646)

Net cash generated from operating activities

163,728

119,489

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Dividend received from listed equity securities
Interest received
Increase in pledged bank deposits
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition of subsidiaries

(22,262)
5,099
695
1,264
(8,009)
–

(2,715)
–
691
23
(11,284)
(9,600)

Net cash used in investing activities

(23,213)

(22,885)

Notes
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before income tax
Adjustments for:
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments
Amortisation of intangible asset
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Dividend income from listed equity securities
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Provision for impairment of trade receivables
Provision for inventories
Interest income
Interest expenses
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2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of bank borrowings
Proceeds from issuance of new shares upon listing
Share issue expenses
Dividend paid to shareholders of the Company
Dividend paid to shareholders of the subsidiaries
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests of a subsidiary
Interest paid
Increase in prepayments relating to listing expenses
Loans from non-controlling interests

(707)
241,500
(19,115)
(70,000)
–
(667)
(250)
–
–

(4,324)
–
–
–
(110,000)
–
(349)
(51)
12,735

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities

150,761

(101,989)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes

291,276
116,130
(484)

(5,385)
121,423
92

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

406,922

116,130

11,998
394,924
–

–
125,211
(9,081)

406,922

116,130

Notes

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents
Short-term bank deposits
Cash and bank balances
Bank overdrafts

25
25
28.2

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2015

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION
The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and domiciled in Hong Kong.
The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KYI-1111,
Cayman Islands. The Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong is 12/F, Yardley Commercial Building,
3 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 16 January 2015.
Pursuant to a group reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”) as set out under the section “History, Reorganisation
and Group Structure” in the Company’s prospectus dated 31 December 2014 (the “Prospectus”), the Company
became the holding company of the subsidiaries (together with the Company are collectively referred to as the
“Group”) now comprising the Group. The consolidated financial statements of the Group has been prepared as
if the Group had always been in existence throughout both periods presented, or since the respective dates of
incorporation or establishment of the group companies, rather than from the date when the Company became the
holding company pursuant to the Reorganisation.
The Group resulting from the Reorganisation was regarded as a continuing entity. Accordingly, the Group’s
statement of comprehensive income, Group’s statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December
2014 and the Group’s statement of financial position as at 31 December 2014 had been prepared on the basis as
if the Company had always been the holding company of the companies now comprising the Group throughout
the year. The consolidated financial statements had been prepared using the principles of merger accounting
in accordance with Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting for Common Control Combinations” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) as if the group structure under the
Reorganisation had been in existence throughout the year or since the respective dates of incorporation of the
entities now comprising the Group, whichever is the shorter period.
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the financial statements. The Group’s principal places of business
are Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). There were no significant changes in the Group’s
operations during the year.
As at 31 December 2015 and up to the date of authorisation of this financial statements, in the opinion of the
directors, the Company’s ultimate holding company is City Concord Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (“BVI”).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2015

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(a)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs – first effective on 1 January 2015
In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the following new/revised HKFRSs and
amendments issued by the HKICPA which is relevant to and effective for the Group’s financial statements for
annual period beginning on 1 January 2015:
HKFRSs (Amendments)
HKFRSs (Amendments)

Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle
Annual Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle

The adoption of the above amendments has no material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective
The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the Group’s financial statements, have been issued,
but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group for the year ended 31 December
2015.
HKFRSs (Amendments)
Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38
Amendments to HKAS 27
HKFRS 9 (2014)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12
and HKAS 28
HKFRS 15

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle1
Disclosure Initiative1
Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation1
Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements1
Financial Instruments2
Sales or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture3
Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception1
Revenue from Contracts with Customers2

Notes:
1
2
3

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
No mandatory effective date yet determined but is available for adoption

41
King’s Flair International (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2015

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2015

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective (Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 1 – Disclosure Initiative
The amendments are designed to encourage entities to use judgement in the application of HKAS 1 when
considering the layout and content of their financial statements.
An entity’s share of other comprehensive income from equity accounted interests in associates and joint
ventures will be split between those items that will and will not be reclassified to profit or loss, and presented
in aggregate as a single line item within those two groups.

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation
The amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit the use of a revenue-based depreciation method for items of property,
plant and equipment. The amendments to HKAS 38 introduce a rebuttable presumption that amortisation
based on revenue is not appropriate for intangible assets. This presumption can be rebutted if either the
intangible asset is expressed as a measure of revenue or revenue and the consumption of the economic
benefits of the intangible asset are highly correlated.

Amendments to HKAS 27 – Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
The amendments allow an entity to apply the equity method in accounting for its investments in subsidiaries,
joint ventures and associates in its separate financial statements.

HKFRS 9 (2014) – Financial Instruments
HKFRS 9 (2014) introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets.
Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows (the business model test) and that have contractual terms that give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding (the contractual
cash flow characteristics test) are generally measured at amortised cost. Debt instruments that meet the
contractual cash flow characteristics test are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
if the objective of the entity’s business model is both to hold and collect the contractual cash flows and to
sell the financial assets. Entities may make an irrevocable election at initial recognition to measure equity
instruments that are not held for trading at fair value through other comprehensive income. All other debt and
equity instruments are measured at fair value through profit or loss.
HKFRS 9 (2014) includes a new expected loss impairment model for all financial assets not measured at fair
value through profit or loss replacing the incurred loss model in HKAS 39 and new general hedge accounting
requirements to allow entities to better reflect their risk management activities in financial statements.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective (Continued)
HKFRS 9 (2014) – Financial Instruments (Continued)
HKFRS 9 (2014) carries forward the recognition, classification and measurement requirements for financial
liabilities from HKAS 39, except for financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, where
the amount of change in fair value attributable to change in credit risk of the liability is recognised in other
comprehensive income unless that would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch. In addition, HKFRS 9
(2014) retains the requirements in HKAS 39 for derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
The amendments clarify the extent of gains or losses to be recognised when an entity sells or contributes
assets to its associate or joint venture. When the transaction involves a business the gain or loss is
recognised in full, conversely when the transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business the gain
or loss is recognised only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in the joint venture or associate.

HKFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers
The new standard establishes a single revenue recognition framework. The core principle of the framework
is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers
in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods and services. HKFRS 15 supersedes existing revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18
Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and related interpretations.
HKFRS 15 requires the application of a 5 steps approach to revenue recognition:
•

Step 1:

Identify the contract(s) with a customer

•

Step 2:

Identify the performance obligations in the contract

•

Step 3:

Determine the transaction price

•

Step 4:

Allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation

•

Step 5:

Recognise revenue when each performance obligation is satisfied

HKFRS 15 includes specific guidance on particular revenue related topics that may change the current
approach taken under HKFRSs. The standard also significantly enhances the qualitative and quantitative
disclosures related to revenue.
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2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective (Continued)
The Group has already commenced an assessment of the impact of adopting the above new/revised
HKFRSs to the Group. The Group is not yet in a position to state whether these pronouncements will result in
substantial changes to the Group’s accounting policies and financial statements.

(c)

New Hong Kong Companies Ordinance provisions relating to the preparation of financial
statements
The provisions of the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, Cap. 622, in relation to the preparation of
financial statements apply to the Company in this financial year.
The directors consider that there is no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance, however
the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, Cap. 622, impacts on the presentation and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. For example, the statement of financial position of the Company is now
presented in the notes to the financial statements rather than as a primary statement and related notes to the
statement of financial position of the Company are generally no longer presented.

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
(a)

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRS”)
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition,
the financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

(b)

Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for
those financial assets stated at fair value, which are measured at fair value as explained in the accounting
policies set out in note 4.
It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are used in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge and judgement
of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
financial statement are disclosed in note 5.

(c)

Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements is presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$’000”) except
when otherwise indicated.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
4.1 Business combination and basis of consolidation
(a)

Merger accounting for common control combination
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the combining entities or
businesses in which the common control combination occurs as if they had been combined from the
date when the combing entities or businesses first came under the control of the controlling party.
The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are combined using the existing book values
from the controlling parties’ perspective. No amount is recognised in respect of goodwill or any gain
on bargain purchase at the time of common control combination, to the extent of the continuation of
the controlling party or parties interest. All differences between the cost of acquisition and the amount
at which the assets and liabilities are recorded have been recognised directly in equity as part of the
reserve.
The consolidated statements of comprehensive income include the results of each of the combining
entities or businesses from the earliest date presented or since the date when the combining entities or
businesses first came under the common control, where this is a shorter period, regardless of the date
of the common control combination.
All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions have been eliminated in
full on combination. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which the case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the effective dates of acquisition or up to the effective dates
of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those used by other members of the Group.

(b)

Acquisition method of accounting for non-common control combination
Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred, liabilities
incurred and equity interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed are principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains
or losses are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis,
to measure the non-controlling interests that represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other noncontrolling interests are measured at fair value unless another measurement basis is required by
HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed unless they are incurred in issuing equity
instruments in which case the costs are deducted from equity.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.1 Business combination and basis of consolidation (Continued)
(b)

Acquisition method of accounting for non-common control combination (Continued)
Any excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities over the consolidation of a business combination is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest and the non-controlling interest are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the same manner as would be
required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.
Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests that represent present
ownership interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus such
non-controlling interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity.
Total comprehensive income is attributed to such non-controlling interests even if this results in those
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

4.2 Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to exercise control. The Company controls an
investee if all three of the following elements are present: power over the investee, exposure, or rights, to
variable returns from the investee, and the ability to use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is
reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of these elements
of control.
In the Company’s statement of financial position, interest in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment
losses, if any. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

4.3 Associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but not control or joint control over those policies. Associates are accounted for
using the equity method whereby they are initially recognised at cost and thereafter, their carrying amount are
adjusted for the Group’s share of the post-acquisition change in the associates’ net assets except that losses
in excess of the Group’s interest in the associate are not recognised unless there is an obligation to make
good those losses.

46
Annual Report 2015 King’s Flair International (Holdings) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2015

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.3 Associates (Continued)
Profits and losses arising on transactions between the Group and its associates are recognised only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate. The investor’s share in the associate’s profits and
losses resulting from these transactions is eliminated against the carrying value of the associate. Where
unrealised losses provide evidence of impairment of the asset transferred they are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and included in the carrying amount of the associate.
Where there is objective evidence that the investment in an associate has been impaired, the carrying amount
of the investment is tested for impairment in the same way as other non-financial assets.

4.4 Intangible asset
An intangible asset acquired separately is recognised initially at cost. Intangible asset with indefinite useful life is
carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Intangible asset identified on business combination are capitalised at fair value at the date of acquisition
and are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Customer
relationships is amortised on a straight-line basis from the date of acquisition over their estimated useful
lives of 5 years. The amortisation is charged to profit or loss. Both the estimated useful lives and method of
amortisation are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, annually.

4.5 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs, such as repairs and maintenance
are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life, at the following rates per annum:
Leasehold land and buildings
Leasehold improvement
Plant and machinery
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles and yacht

4% or over the lease term, whichever is shorter
20% or over the terms of the leases of properties,
whichever is shorter
20%
20%
10-20%

47
King’s Flair International (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2015

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2015

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.5 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at the end of each reporting period.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss
in the period the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

4.6 Prepaid land leases payments
Upfront payments made to acquire land for own use under operating lease are stated at costs less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated on a straight
line basis over the term of the lease as an expense except where an alternative basis is more representative
of the time pattern of benefits to be derived by the Group from use of the land.

4.7 Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group’s prepaid land lease payments, property, plant and equipment, other asset, intangible asset and
interest in an associate are subject to impairment testing.
When an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than deferred tax asset, inventories and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is calculated as the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in
use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is any indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.8 Leases
An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific assets or assets for an agreed period of
time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a determination is made based on an evaluation
of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a
lease.

Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets that are held by the Group under leases which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held under finance leases. Leases which do not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease charges as the lessee
Where the Group has the right to use of assets held under operating leases, payments made under the leases
are charged to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the time pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased assets. Lease incentives
received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made.

4.9 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is determined using the nominal value of shares that
have been issued.
Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of capital are deducted from capital (net of any related
income tax benefit) to the extend they are incremental costs directly attributable to the equity transaction.

4.10 Financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition, depending on the purpose for which the asset
was acquired. Financial assets of the Group are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or sale
of a financial asset under a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within the time frame established
generally by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned.

Loans and receivables
These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. They arise principally through the provision of goods and services to customers (trade
debtors), and also incorporate other types of contractual monetary asset. Subsequent to initial recognition,
they are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.10 Financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets
These assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not included
in other categories of financial assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, these assets are carried at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income, except for impairment losses and
foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary instruments, which are recognised in profit or loss.
For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery
of such unquoted equity instruments, they are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses, at the end of each reporting period, whether there is any objective evidence that
financial asset is impaired. Financial asset is impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of
one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and that event has an impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment
may include:
–

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

–

a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

–

granting concession to a debtor because of debtor’s financial difficulty; and

–

it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Loans and receivables
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss and directly reduces the carrying amount of financial asset
when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of financial asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. When any part of financial asset is determined as uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account for the relevant financial asset.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Where a decline in the fair value constitutes objective evidence of impairment, the amount of the loss is
removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss.
Any impairment losses on available-for-sale debt investments are subsequently reversed in profit or loss
if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
recognition of the impairment loss.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.10 Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued)
For available-for-sale equity investment, any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income.
For available-for-sale equity investment that is carried at cost, the amount of impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the present value of estimated future cash
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss is not
reversed.

4.11 Financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills payables, other payables and accruals, loans from noncontrolling interests and bank borrowings.
Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All interest related charges are recognised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for
borrowing costs (note 4.18).
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the
respective carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of directly attributable transaction costs incurred.
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and bills payables, other payables and accruals and loans from non-controlling
interests
These are recognised initially at their fair value, net of directly attributable transaction costs incurred and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.12 Foreign currency
Transactions entered into by the Group in currencies other than the functional currency are recorded at the
rates ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at
the rates ruling at the end of reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except
for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income, in which case, the exchange differences are also recognised in
other comprehensive income.
On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the rates approximating to those ruling when the transactions
took place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the rate ruling at the end
of reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity as foreign exchange reserve (attributed to minority interests as appropriate). Exchange
differences recognised in profit or loss of group entities’ separate financial statements on the translation of
long-term monetary items forming part of the Group’s net investment in the foreign operation concerned are
reclassified to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange reserve.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange differences recognised in the foreign exchange
reserve relating to that operation up to the date of disposal are reclassified to profit or loss as part of the profit
or loss on disposal.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in the foreign exchange reserve.

4.13 Inventories
Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories
to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.14 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, demand deposits with banks and short
term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose
of consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

4.15 Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following basis:
(a)

from the sales of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold. This is usually taken as the time
when the goods are delivered and the customers has accepted the goods;

(b)

service income is recognised in the period when the respective services are rendered;

(c)

interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method; and

(d)

dividend income is recognised when the right to receive dividend payment is established.

4.16 Accounting for income tax
Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.
Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the end of reporting period. They are
calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate,
based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a
component of income tax expense in profit or loss.
Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of reporting period
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their respective tax
bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, tax losses available to be carried forward as
well as other unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit, including existing taxable
temporary difference, will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
and unused tax credits can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.16 Accounting for income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries
and associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply in the period the liability is
settled or the asset realised, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting
period.
Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also recognised in other comprehensive income or when
they relate to items recognised directly in equity in which case the taxes are also recognised directly in equity.
Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net if, and only if,
(a)

the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and

(b)

intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities in net if, and only if,
(a)

the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b)

the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:
(i)

the same taxable entity; or

(ii)

different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

4.17 Employee benefits
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through a defined contribution plan.

Defined contribution plans
The Group contributes to a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.17 Employee benefits (Continued)
Defined contribution plans (Continued)
According to the relevant regulations in the PRC, the subsidiaries of the Group operating in the PRC are
required to participate in central pension schemes operated by the respective local municipal governments,
whereby the PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of the basic salaries of their
employees to the scheme to fund their retirement benefits. Contributions under the scheme are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC.
Short-term employee benefits
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they are accrued to employees. A provision is
made for the estimated liability for unused annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to
the reporting date. Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal
plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

4.18 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs incurred for the acquisition, construction or production of any qualifying asset are capitalised
during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. A qualifying
asset is an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale.
Other borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.
Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale are being undertaken. Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when substantially all
the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are complete.

4.19 Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, which will probably result in an outflow of economic
benefits that can be reasonably estimated.
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.20 Related parties
(a)

(b)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:
(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)

has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)

is a member of key management personnel of the Group or the Company’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply:
(i)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(ii)

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a member);

(iii)

both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv)

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(vi)

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii)

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(viii)

the entity or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:
(i)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(ii)

children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(iii)

dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

4.21 Segment reporting
The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment information based on the regular internal
financial statements reported to the executive directors for their decisions about resources allocation to the
Group’s business components and for their review of the performance of those components.
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5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The Group’s management makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below:

(i)

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives and residual values for its property, plant
and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant
and equipment of similar nature and functions. Management will increase the depreciation charge where
useful lives are less than previously estimated lives. It will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or nonstrategic assets that have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful
lives; actual residual values may differ from estimated residual values. Periodic review could result in a change
in depreciable lives and residual values and therefore depreciation expense in the future periods.

(ii)

Net realisable value of inventory
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. The net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less estimated distribution and selling expenses. Management reassesses the estimations at each
reporting date to ensure inventory is shown at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

(iii) Impairment of receivables
The Group’s management reviews receivables on a regular basis to determine if any provision for impairment is
necessary. This estimate is based on the credit history of its customers, past settlement and industry practice
and current market conditions. Management reassesses the impairment of receivables at each reporting
date.

(iv) Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be
impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of the recoverable amount of the asset.
This requires an estimation of the value-in-use of the cash-generating unit to which the asset is allocated.
Estimating the value-in-use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows. A change in the estimated future cash flows and/or the discount rate applied will result in
an adjustment to the estimated impairment provision previously made.

(v)

Estimated useful life of intangible asset
The Group’s management determines the estimated useful live for its intangible asset. The estimated useful
live reflects the Group’s management’s estimates of the periods that the Group intends to derive future
economic benefits from the use of the intangible asset.
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5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
(vi) Tax
Determining income tax provisions requires the Group to make judgements on the future tax treatment
of certain transactions. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions in accordance
with prevailing tax regulations and makes tax provisions accordingly. In addition, deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. This requires significant judgement on the tax treatments
of certain transactions and also assessment on the probability that adequate future taxable profits will be
available for the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

(vii) Fair value measurement
A number of assets and liabilities included in the Group’s consolidated financial statements require
measurement at, or disclosure of, fair value.
The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial and non-financial assets and liabilities utilises market
observable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs used in determining fair value measurements are
categorised into different levels based on how observable the inputs used in the valuation technique utilised
are:
•

Level 1:

Quoted prices in active markets for identical items (unadjusted);

•

Level 2:

Observable direct or indirect inputs other than Level 1 inputs;

•

Level 3:

Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from market data).

The classification of an item into the above levels is based on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a
significant effect on the fair value measurement of the item. Transfers of items between levels are recognised
in the period they occur.
The Group measures the following items at fair values:
•

Available-for-sale financial assets (note 23)

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value measurement of the items above, please refer to
note 38.1(f) to notes to financial statements.

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
(i)

Operating segment information
The Group has identified its operating segment and prepared segment information based on the regular
internal financial statements reported to the Company’s executive directors for their decisions about
resources allocation to the Group’s business component and review of the component’s performance. There
is only one business component in the internal reporting to the executive directors, which is the trading of
kitchenware products. The Group’s assets and capital expenditure are principally attributable to this business
component.
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(ii)

Geographical segment information
The management determines the Group is domiciled in Hong Kong, which is the location of the Group’s
principal place of operations. The Group’s revenue from external customers is divided into the following
geographical areas:

Notes
United States
Europe
Asia
Canada
Other locations

(a)
(b)
(c)

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

1,213,663
74,645
64,461
30,481
11,385

1,159,739
84,727
65,743
38,296
10,954

1,394,635

1,359,459

Notes:
(a)

Principally included United Kingdom, Switzerland, France and Germany

(b)

Principally included Hong Kong, Japan and the PRC

(c)

Principally included Australia, Mexico, Turkey and Egypt

The geographical location of customers is based on the location of customers. For intangible asset, the
geographical location is based on the entities’ areas of operation. The geographical location of other noncurrent assets is based on the physical location of the assets. As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, over 90%
of the Group’s non-current assets (other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets) are located in
Hong Kong.

(iii) Information about major customers
For the year ended 31 December 2015, revenues from three (2014: four) customers with whom transactions
of each has exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue. Total revenue from these three major customers as
shown below accounted for HK$1,035,191,000 (2014: four customers totalling HK$1,078,095,000) of the
Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Company A
Company B
Company C
Company D (Note)
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2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

712,628
155,048
167,515
113,116

576,999
202,109
153,429
145,558
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(iii) Information about major customers (Continued)
As at 31 December 2015, 73% of the Group’s trade and bills receivables were due from the abovementioned
major three customers (i.e. Company A, B and C).
As at 31 December 2014, 72% of the Group’s trade receivables were due from the abovementioned major
four customers (i.e. Company A, B, C and D).
Note:
For the year ended 31 December 2015, revenue from this customer with whom transaction does not exceed 10% of the Group’s
revenue. The revenue from this customer for the year ended 31 December 2015 is disclosed for illustrative purposes only.

7.

REVENUE
The Group is principally engaged in trading of kitchenware products. Revenue represents invoiced value of goods
sold, after allowances for returns and discounts (net of value added tax). Revenue recognised during the year is as
follows:

Sales of goods

8.

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

1,394,635

1,359,459

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

1,264
695
221
3,720
866
290

23
691
1,317
10,359
–
51

7,056

12,441

OTHER INCOME

Bank interest income
Dividend income from listed equity securities
Management and handling services
Recharge from customers
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Others
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9.

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX
2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

950
1,089,690
128
4,728
4,806
55
4,148
–
–

850
1,113,522
–
4,113
4,806
58
5,465
152
13,340

35,139
17,621
2,018

34,575
20,472
1,612

54,778
2,392

56,659
6,037

Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging:
Auditor’s remuneration
Cost of inventories sold recognised as expense, including
– Provision for inventories
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment*
Amortisation of intangible asset*
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments*
Operating lease rentals in respect of land and buildings and equipment
Provision for impairment of trade receivables (note 21)
Listing expenses
Employee benefit expenses (including directors’ remuneration) (note 11.1)
Wages, salaries and other benefits
Discretionary bonuses
Contributions to defined contribution schemes
Exchange loss, net
*

Depreciation and amortisation charges are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as distribution
expenses of HK$124,000 (2014: HK$127,000) and administrative expenses of HK$9,465,000 (2014: HK$8,850,000) for the year
ended 31 December 2015.

10. FINANCE COSTS

Interest charges on financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Bank loans
Bank overdrafts and other borrowings
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2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

21
229

71
278

250

349
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11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
11.1 Directors’ emoluments
Directors’ emoluments are disclosed as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2015
Executive directors#
Mr. Wong Siu Wah (“Mr. Wong”)
Ms. Wong Fook Chi
Mr. Wong Ying Wai Dennis
Independent non-executive directors
Dr. Lau Kin Tak
Mr. Anthony Graeme Michaels
Ms. Leung Wai Ling, Wylie

Directors’
fee
HK$’000

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits
in kind
HK$’000

–
–
–

5,040
1,031
610

8,000
370
1,024

18
18
18

13,058
1,419
1,652

148
148
148

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

148
148
148

444

6,681

9,394

54

16,573

Discretionary
bonuses
HK$’000
(note (iv))

Contributions
to defined
contribution
scheme
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

Year ended 31 December 2014
Executive directors#
Mr. Wong
Ms. Cheng Hew Hong, Rebecca
(“Ms. Cheng”) (note (ii))
Ms. Wong Fook Chi
Mr. Wong Ying Wai Dennis (note (i))

–

5,040

8,000

17

13,057

–
–
–

408
658
181

–
500
37

11
16
6

419
1,174
224

Independent non-executive directors*
Dr. Lau Kin Tak
Mr. Anthony Graeme Michaels
Ms. Leung Wai Ling, Wylie

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–

6,287

8,537

50

14,874
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11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)
11.1 Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
Notes:
i.

Mr. Wong Ying Wai Dennis was appointed as an executive director of the Company with effect from 20 August 2014.

ii.

Ms. Cheng resigned as an executive director of the Company with effect from 28 August 2014.

iii.

No directors waived any emoluments during the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil).

iv.

The bonus is determined by the individual performance of the directors.

v.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors or any of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

#

Save as disclosed in the above table, the Group also provided a quarter to the executive directors, Mr. Wong and Ms. Wong
Fook Chi (2014: Mr. Wong, Ms. Cheng and Ms. Wong Fook Chi). The estimated market rental of the Group’s property which
was used by the executive directors as a quarter for the year ended 31 December 2015 were approximately HK$1,668,000
(2014: HK$1,668,000). The carrying amount of the Group’s leasehold property which was used by the executive directors as
a quarter as at 31 December 2015 was HK$11,602,000 (2014: HK$12,085,000).

*

The independent non-executive directors were appointed with effect from 22 December 2014 and had not received any
emoluments during the year ended 31 December 2014.

11.2 Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015
included three (2014: two) directors, whose emoluments were reflected in the analysis presented in note 11.1
above. The emoluments payable to the remaining two (2014: three) individuals for the year are as follows:

Salaries and allowance
Discretionary bonuses
Contributions to defined contribution scheme

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

971
562
35

1,300
915
50

1,568

2,265

The remuneration paid to each of the above non-director individuals for the year fell within the following band:
Number of individuals
2015
2014
Emolument band
Nil to HK$1,000,000

2
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11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)
11.3 Senior management emolument band
The remuneration paid to each of the senior management (other than the directors as disclosed in note 11.1
above) for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 fell within the following band:
Number of individuals
2015
2014
Emolument band
Nil to HK$1,000,000

5

6

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

30,920
(80)

24,525
(41)

30,840

24,484

1,191

(988)

32,031

23,496

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Current tax – Hong Kong
– Current year
– Over-provision in respect of prior years

Deferred tax (note 30)
– Charge/(Credit) for the year
Income tax expenses

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operated.
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2014: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit
arising in Hong Kong for the year ended 31 December 2015.
Enterprise income tax (“EIT”) for the year was calculated at 25% (2014: 25%) of the estimated assessable profits
arising from the PRC. No PRC EIT tax has been provided for Group’s PRC subsidiaries as they did not derive any
assessable profits during the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil).
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands, the Group is not subject to any income tax in the
Cayman Islands.

64
Annual Report 2015 King’s Flair International (Holdings) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2015

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)
A reconciliation of the income tax expenses and accounting profits at applicable tax rates is as follows:
2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

194,107

116,650

Tax at applicable tax rate of 16.5% (2014: 16.5%)
Tax effect in different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other
jurisdictions
Tax effect on non-taxable income
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised
Tax effect of fair value (loss)/gain on available-for-sale financial assets
which is subject to Hong Kong profits tax
Over-provision in respect of prior years
Others

32,028

19,247

(364)
(359)
544
973

(612)
(392)
2,645
1,750

(738)
(80)
27

982
(41)
(83)

Income tax expenses

32,301

23,496

Profit before income tax

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to owners of the Company for the
year of HK$163,545,000 (2014: HK$95,146,000) and the weighted average of 692,808,000 ordinary shares
(2014: 525,000,000 ordinary shares, comprising 10,000 ordinary shares issued as at 31 December 2014, and
524,990,000 ordinary shares issued pursuant to the capitalisation issue on 15 January 2015 as if these shares
were outstanding throughout the year) in issue during the year (note 31(b)).

Diluted earnings per share
There were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding during the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014,
and hence the diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per share.
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14. DIVIDENDS

2015 interim dividend paid of HK$0.045 (2014: Nil) per share
2015 special dividend paid of HK$0.055 (2014: Nil) per share

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

31,500
38,500

–
–

70,000

–

At the board meeting held on 30 March 2016, the directors resolved to recommend a final dividend of HK$0.065
per ordinary share (2014: Nil). The proposed dividends have not been recognised as a dividend payable as at 31
December 2015, but will be reflected as an appropriation of retained profits/share premium for the year ending 31
December 2016.
During the year ended 31 December 2014, King’s Flair Development Limited (“King’s Flair Development”), a
subsidiary of the Company, declared and paid an interim dividend of HK$50 per ordinary share to its equity holders,
totalling HK$50,000,000.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Leasehold
land and
buildings
HK$’000

Leasehold
improvement
HK$’000

Plant and
machinery
HK$’000

Furniture,
fixtures and
equipment
HK$’000

Motor
vehicles
and yacht
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

At 1 January 2014
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

33,888
(11,161)

2,430
(563)

11
(4)

4,860
(2,111)

15,069
(7,287)

56,258
(21,126)

Net carrying amount

22,727

1,867

7

2,749

7,782

35,132

Year ended 31 December 2014
Opening net carrying amount
Additions
Depreciation
Exchange realignment

22,727
–
(784)
–

1,867
108
(534)
(27)

7
–
(2)
–

2,749
2,577
(1,179)
(19)

7,782
30
(1,614)
(3)

35,132
2,715
(4,113)
(49)

Closing net carrying amount

21,943

1,414

5

4,128

6,195

33,685

At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

33,888
(11,945)

2,502
(1,088)

11
(6)

7,232
(3,104)

14,695
(8,500)

58,328
(24,643)

Net carrying amount

21,943

1,414

5

4,128

6,195

33,685

Year ended 31 December 2015
Opening net carrying amount
Additions
Depreciation
Disposals
Exchange realignment

21,943
–
(784)
–
–

1,414
–
(440)
(162)
(63)

5
–
(2)
–
–

4,128
838
(1,351)
–
(41)

6,195
21,424
(2,151)
(4,071)
(7)

33,685
22,262
(4,728)
(4,233)
(111)

Closing net carrying amount

21,159

749

3

3,574

21,390

46,875

At 31 December 2015
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

33,888
(12,729)

2,091
(1,342)

11
(8)

7,610
(4,036)

25,445
(4,055)

69,045
(22,170)

Net carrying amount

21,159

749

3

3,574

21,390

46,875
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
At 31 December 2015, the Group’s leasehold land and buildings with an aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$21,159,000 (2014: HK$21,943,000) were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted
to the Group (note 40).

16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS
2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

At beginning of the year
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

2,831
(810)

2,873
(763)

Net carrying amount

2,021

2,110

For the year ended
Opening net carrying amount
Amortisation
Exchange realignment

2,021
(55)
(92)

2,110
(58)
(31)

Closing net carrying amount

1,874

2,021

At end of the year
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

2,702
(828)

2,831
(810)

Net carrying amount

1,874

2,021

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

172

172

17. OTHER ASSET

Club membership, at cost
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18. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

Share of net assets

Amount due from an associate

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

–

–

187

2,046

Amount due from an associate is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
The associate has a financial year-end date of 31 December.
Details of the associate as at 31 December 2015 are as follow:

Company name

Place of incorporation

Grand Venture Holdings Limited
(“Grand Venture”)

Hong Kong

Percentage of
ownership
interests
34%

Principal activity
Selling and distribution of
kitchenware products

The following table illustrates the summarised loss and total comprehensive income of the Group’s associate as
extracted from its unaudited management accounts:

Loss for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

250
250

1,324
1,324

The Group has not incurred any contingent liabilities or other commitments relating to its investment in an associate.
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSET
Customer
relationships
HK$’000
At 1 January 2014
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

24,031
–

Net carrying amount

24,031

Year ended 31 December 2014
Opening net carry amount
Amortisation

24,031
(4,806)

Closing net carrying amount

19,225

At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

24,031
(4,806)

Net carrying amount

19,225

Year ended 31 December 2015
Opening net carrying amount
Amortisation

19,225
(4,806)

Closing net carrying amount

14,419

At 31 December 2015
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

24,031
(9,612)

Net carrying amount

14,419

Intangible asset represent the customer relationships acquired by the Group in connection with the acquisition of a
subsidiary, Wonder Household Limited, completed on 31 December 2013.

20. INVENTORIES

Merchandises, at cost
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2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

10,064

10,200
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21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

Trade receivables
Bills receivables

127,139
550

144,791
–

Less: provision for impairment loss

127,689
–

144,791
(152)

Trade and bills receivables, net

127,689

144,639

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on credit. The credit terms are generally 7 to 90 days from
the invoice date. All trade and bills receivables are interest-free.
At each reporting date, the Group’s trade receivables were individually determined to be impaired. Movements in
provision for impairment of trade and bills receivables during the years are as follows:

At 1 January
Provision for impairment loss
Write off
At 31 December

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

152
–
(152)

–
152
–

–

152

The directors of the Company considered the fair values of trade and bills receivables are not materially different
from their carrying amounts because these amounts have short maturity periods on their inception. An ageing
analysis of the Group’s trade and bills receivables (net of impairment losses) as at the reporting date, based on the
invoices dates, is as follows:

0–30 days
31–60 days
61–90 days
Over 90 days
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2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

97,688
22,735
2,371
4,895

111,173
24,701
4,492
4,273

127,689

144,639
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21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued)
The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables that are neither individually nor collectively considered to be
impaired is as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired
Less than 60 days past due
Past due more than 60 days but less than 1 year
Past due more than 1 year but less than 2 years

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

96,147
26,851
4,689
2

111,863
30,407
2,367
2

127,689

144,639

Trade and bills receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to customers for whom there were no
recent history of default.
At 31 December 2015, trade and bills receivables that were past due but not impaired related to customers with
good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, the management believes that no impairment is
necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances
are considered fully recoverable.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade deposits paid to suppliers (note (a))
Other deposits
Prepayments
Other receivables (note (b))

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

26,673
1,492
5,482
18,091

25,088
1,792
8,561
460

51,738

35,901

Notes:
(a)

The Group’s trade deposits represented the purchase deposits paid to various independent third parties for supply of trading
goods.

(b)

All other receivables was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The directors of the Company considered that other
receivables that were neither past due nor impaired as at each reporting date under review are of good credit quality.
The directors of the Company considered the fair values of other receivables are not materially different from their carrying amounts
because these amounts have short maturity periods on their inception.
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23. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Listed equity securities, at fair value:
– in Hong Kong

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

33,821

38,291

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the change in fair value in respect of the Group’s available-for-sale financial
assets recognised in other comprehensive income amounted to HK$4,470,000 in deficit (2014: HK$5,949,000 in
surplus).
The fair value of the Group’s investment in listed equity securities has been determined by reference to their quoted
market prices at the reporting dates.

24. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

Pledged bank deposits, denominated in
– HK$ and US dollars (“US$”)

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

28,904

20,895

Pledged bank deposits have been pledged to certain banks as securities for general banking facilities granted to
the Group (note 40).
Pledged bank deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks and carry fixed interest rates which ranged from
0.01% to 0.3% (2014: 0.01% to 0.25%) per annum. The directors of the Company considered that the fair value
of the pledged bank deposits is not materially different from their carrying amount because of the short maturity
period on their inception.
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25. CASH AND BANK BALANCES
2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

Short-term bank deposits
Cash and bank balances

11,998
394,924

–
125,211

Total cash and bank balances

406,922

125,211

As at 31 December 2015, the Group has cash and bank balances denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted
to approximately HK$4,250,000 (2014: HK$3,338,000), which are deposited with banks in the PRC. RMB is not
freely convertible into foreign currencies. Under the PRC Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
foreign currencies through banks in the PRC that are authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
Bank balances earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.
The effective interest rates of the Group’s short-term bank deposits as at 31 December 2015 was 2.75% per
annum and have original maturity period of one month.
The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks. The directors of the Company considered that the fair
value of the cash and bank balances is not materially different from their carrying amount because of the short
maturity period on their inception.

26. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES
Trade and bills payables normally have a credit period of 0 to 90 days from the invoice date.

Trade payables
Bills payables (note)

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

63,752
3,000

90,198
–

66,752

90,198

Note: At 31 December 2015, bills payables of HK$3,000,000 (2014:Nil) were secured by the pledge of leasehold land and buildings and
pledged bank deposits (note 40) and guaranteed by the corporate guarantee provided by the Company (note 40).
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26. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (Continued)
An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade and bills payables as at the reporting date, based on the invoices dates, is as
follows:

0–90 days
91–180 days
Over 365 days

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

65,077
1,273
402

89,668
108
422

66,752

90,198

The directors of the Company considered the carrying amounts of trade and bills payables approximate to their fair
values.

27. DEPOSITS RECEIVED, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Trade deposits received
Accruals
Other payables (note)

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

2,026
54,904
1,056

1,602
39,425
2,267

57,986

43,294

Note: As at 31 December 2015, HK$18,000 included in other payables (2014: HK$1,208,000) was an amount due to a related company
which was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The Company’s director, Mr. Wong is the director of this related
company. Mr. Wong and Ms. Cheng, the Company’s ex-director, are together interested in 50% of this related company.

Name of related company

Ignite Hong Kong, Limited (“Ignite HK”) (note 34.2)

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

18

1,208

The directors of the Company considered the carrying amounts of deposits received, other payables and accruals
to approximate their fair values.
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28. BANK BORROWINGS

Term loans (note 28.1)
Bank overdrafts (note 28.2)

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

480
–

1,187
9,081

480

10,268

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

480

1,187

28.1 TERM LOANS

On demand or within one year

The Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings, including the term loans with a repayment on demand clause,
are carried at amortised cost. As at the reporting date, none of the portions of term loans due for repayment
after one year which is classified as current liability is expected to be settled within one year.

Portion of term loans from banks due for repayment
– on demand or within a period not exceeding one year
– Within a period of more than one year but not exceeding
two years (note)

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

480

707

–

480

480

1,187

Note: The amounts due are based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements and ignore the effect of any
repayment on demand clause.

All of the Group’s term loan agreements contain clauses which gave the lender the right at its sole discretion
to demand immediate repayment at any time irrespective of whether the Group has complied with the
covenants and met the scheduled repayment obligations.
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28. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)
28.1 TERM LOANS (Continued)
The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants, is up to date with the scheduled
repayments of the term loans and does not consider it probable that the bank will exercise its discretion
to demand repayment for so long as the Group continues to meet these requirements. Further details of
the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in note 38.1(e). As at 31 December 2015, none of the
covenants relating to drawn down facilities had been breached (2014: Nil).
As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s term loans were secured by the pledge of leasehold land and buildings
and pledged bank deposit (note 40) and guaranteed by the corporate guarantee provided by the Company
(note 40) (2014: secured by pledge of leasehold land and building and pledged bank deposit (note 40) and
personal guarantees given by the Company’s director, Mr. Wong, and the Company’s ex-director, Ms.
Cheng (note 34.1 (d) and note 40)).
The ranges of effective interest rates per annum of the Group’s term loans are as follows:

Floating-rate borrowings

2015

2014

2.5%

2.5%

The directors of the Company estimate the fair value of the term loans by discounting their future cash
flows at the market rate and the directors consider that the carrying amounts of the Group’s term loans
approximate to their fair values at each reporting date.

28.2 BANK OVERDRAFTS
As at 31 December 2015, the Group does not have any outstanding bank overdrafts.
As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s bank overdrafts were repayable on demand and secured by the
Group’s pledge of leasehold land and building and pledged bank deposits (note 40), and personal guarantees
given by the Company’s directors, Mr. Wong and the Company ex-director, Ms. Cheng (note 34.1(d) and
note 40).
During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group’s bank overdrafts bore interest ranged from 4% to
5.25% per annum.
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29. LOANS FROM NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
As at 31 December 2014, loans from non-controlling interests of approximately HK$1,920,000, RMB9,800,000
(equivalent to HK$12,319,000), RMB2,400,000 (equivalent to HK$3,017,000), RMB3,940,000 (equivalent to
HK$4,953,000) and RMB3,935,000 (equivalent to HK$4,946,000) were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
30 June 2015, 31 December 2015, 24 April 2017, 14 October 2016 and 6 November 2016 respectively.
During the year ended 31 December 2015, the repayment terms of loans from non-controlling interests of
approximately HK$1,920,000 and RMB9,800,000 (equivalent to HK$11,758,000) were renewed and these loans
are repayable on 30 June 2017 and 31 December 2018 respectively.
As at 31 December 2015, loans from non-controlling interests of approximately RMB2,400,000 (equivalent to
HK$2,879,000), RMB3,940,000 (equivalent to HK$4,727,000), RMB3,935,000 (equivalent to HK$4,721,000),
HK$1,920,000 and RMB9,800,000 (equivalent to HK$11,758,000) are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
24 April 2017, 14 October 2016, 6 November 2016, 30 June 2017 and 31 December 2018 respectively.
The directors of the Company considered the carrying amounts of loans from non-controlling interests approximate
to their fair values.

30. DEFERRED TAX
Details of the deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised and movements as follows:

Accelerated
tax
depreciation
HK$’000

Fair value
adjustment on
intangible asset
upon business
combination
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

At 1 January 2014
Credited to profit or loss

(4,144)
195

(3,965)
793

(8,109)
988

At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015
(Charged)/Credited to profit or loss

(3,949)
(1,984)

(3,172)
793

(7,121)
(1,191)

At 31 December 2015

(5,933)

(2,379)

(8,312)
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30. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)
The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

4
(8,316)

5
(7,126)

The estimated unused tax losses carried forward not recognised in the consolidated financial statements due to
unpredictability of future profit streams are as follows:

Estimated unused tax losses

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

29,729

25,659

The PRC estimated unused tax losses can only be carried forward for a maximum period of five years from the
reporting date and the Hong Kong estimated unused tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely. The expiry of
estimated unused tax losses for which no deferred tax assets have been recognised is as follows:

Estimated unused tax losses will expire at various dates within
five years from the reporting date
Estimated unused tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely
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2014
HK$’000
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31. SHARE CAPITAL
2015
Number of
shares
(’000)
Authorised:
Shares of HK$0.01 each
At 1 January
Increase in authorised shares (note (a))
At 31 December

2014

HK$’000

Number of
shares
(’000)

HK$’000

10,000,000
–

100,000
–

38,000
9,962,000

380
99,620

10,000,000

100,000

10,000,000

100,000

Issued and fully paid:
Shares of HK$0.01 each
At 1 January
Capitalisation issue (note (b))
Allotment of shares (notes (a) and (c))

10
524,990
175,000

–
5,250
1,750

1
–
9

–
–
–

At 31 December

700,000

7,000

10

–

Notes:
(a)

On 22 December 2014, the authorised share capital of the Company was increased from HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000
ordinary shares to HK$100,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 ordinary shares by the creation of an additional 9,962,000,000
ordinary shares.
On 23 December 2014, shareholder’s loan (i) in the aggregate sum of HK$248,766,204 advanced by King’s Flair (Group)
Development Limited (“KF Group”), a related company of which Mr. Wong is a director, to Lions Power Development Limited (“Lions
Power”) to finance its payment of the consideration for the acquisition of the 1,000,000 shares in King’s Flair Development was
capitalised by the allotment and issue to KF Group of 999 new shares, credited as fully paid, of Lions Power; and (ii) in the sum of
HK$3,740,000 advanced by KF Group to Wealth Wise Investments Limited (“Wealth Wise”) to finance its acquisition of the 3,740,000
shares in Manweal Development Limited was capitalised by the allotment and issue to KF Group of 999 new shares, credited as
fully paid, of Wealth Wise.
On 24 December 2014, the Company acquired the entire issued share capital of Lions Power and Wealth Wise from KF Group.
The consideration was satisfied by the allotment and issue of 9,000 ordinary share of the Company, credited as fully paid, as to 1,800
shares in favour of First Concord Limited and as to the remaining 7,200 shares in favour of City Concord Limited and crediting as
fully paid at par the 1,000 nil paid ordinary shares in issue at the time.

(b)

On 15 January 2015, 524,990,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued at par to the shareholders of the Company by
way of capitalisation of HK$5,250,000 from the Company’s share premium account.

(c)

On 15 January 2015, an aggregate of 17,500,000 ordinary shares and 157,500,000 ordinary shares were issued and offered
for subscription under public offer and placing, respectively at a price of HK$1.38 per share. The Group raised approximately
HK$241,500,000 before any related listing expenses arising from the public offer and placing, resulting in an increase in the issued
share capital of the Company by HK$1,750,000 and the share premium of the Company by HK$239,750,000.
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32. RESERVES
Group
Details of the movements on the Group’s reserves for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 are presented
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 37.

Merger reserve
The merger reserve of the Group arose as a result of the Reorganisation and represented the difference between
the consideration under the Reorganisation and the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries then
acquired.

Company
Retained
profits/
Share (Accumulated
losses)
premium*
HK$’000
HK$’000

*

Total
HK$’000

At 1 January 2014
Allotment of shares (note 31(a))
Total comprehensive income for the year

–
252,506
–

–
–
(6,183)

–
252,506
(6,183)

At 31 December 2014
Capitalisation issue (note 31 (b))
Share issued under public offer and placing (note 31(c))
Share issue expenses
2015 interim dividend (note 14)
2015 special dividend (note 14)

252,506
(5,250)
239,750
(19,115)
–
–

(6,183)
–
–
–
(31,500)
(38,500)

246,323
(5,250)
239,750
(19,115)
(31,500)
(38,500)

Transactions with owners
Total comprehensive income for the year

215,385
–

(70,000)
77,096

145,385
77,096

At 31 December 2015

467,891

913

468,804

The share premium account of the Company arises on shares issued at premium. Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium account is distributable to owners of the Company provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.
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33. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
At each reporting date, the Group’s total future minimum rental payable under non-cancellable operating lease in
respect of land and buildings and plant and machinery are as follows:
2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

3,036
1,802

3,967
3,919

4,838

7,886

67
227

31
–

294

31

3,103
2,029

3,998
3,919

5,132

7,917

Land and buildings
Within one year
In the second to fifth years

Plant and machinery
Within one year
In the second to fifth years

Total
Within one year
In the second to fifth years

The leases run for an initial period of one year to five years (2014: one year to five years).
As at reporting date, none of these lease arrangements include contingent rentals and no additional rental expense
was charged by the lessor.
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group also had
the following significant transactions with related parties during the year:

34.1 Significant transactions with related parties

Nature of transaction

Name of related
company/party
Notes

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

Licensing fee paid

Ignite HK

(a)

2,999

2,823

Management fee income

Grand Venture

(b)

221

1,310

Rental expenses

Mr. Wong

(c)

762

386

Notes:
(a)

A related company, of which Mr. Wong is a director and Mr. Wong and Ms. Cheng, the Company’s ex-director, are together
interested in 50% of its shareholding.

(b)

An associate of the Group.

(c)

During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group had paid rental expenses relating to a premise which is
owned by Mr. Wong.

(d)

During the year ended 31 December 2014, Mr. Wong and Ms. Cheng, the ex-director of the Company, provided personal
guarantees to certain banks for granting the general banking facilities to the Group (note 40). As at 31 December 2014, total
amount of banking facilities of approximately HK$10,268,000 have been utilised by the Group. During the year ended 31
December 2015, the personal guarantees provided by Mr. Wong and Ms. Cheng had been released and replaced by an
unlimited corporate guarantee by the Company (note 40).

(e)

All transactions as shown above were made on the Group’s normal course of business and were made with reference to
the terms negotiated between the relevant parties.

34.2 Outstanding balances with related parties
Details of the Group’s balances with the related parties as disclosed in note 18 and 27 to the financial
statements were arising from the related party transactions as summarised in note 34.1.

34.3 Compensation of key management personnel
The directors are of the opinion that the key management personnel were all directors of the Company,
details of whose emoluments are set out in note 11.1.
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35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At the reporting date, the Group does not have any significant contingent liabilities.

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Non-current assets
Interests in subsidiaries

252,506

252,506

Current assets
Prepayments
Amount due from subsidiaries
Cash and bank balances

235
21,984
201,079

31
–
–

223,298

31

–

6,214

Net current assets/(liabilities)

223,298

(6,183)

Net assets

475,804

246,323

7,000
468,804

–
246,323

475,804

246,323

Notes

Current liabilities
Amount due to a subsidiary

EQUITY
Share capital
Reserves

31
32

Total equity

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Wong Siu Wah
Director

Wong Fook Chi
Director
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37. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2015 are as follows:
Place of
incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity

Particulars of
issued and fully paid
up share capital/
registered capital

Lions Power Development
Limited

Incorporated in the
BVI, limited liability
company

US$1,000

100%

–

Investment holding,
Hong Kong

Wealth Wise Investments
Limited

Incorporated in the
BVI, limited liability
company

US$1,000

100%

–

Investment holding,
Hong Kong

King’s Flair Development
Limited
科勁發展有限公司

Incorporated in Hong
Kong, limited liability
company

HK$1,000,000

–

100%

Trading of kitchenware
products, Hong Kong

Aegis Global Resources
(HK) Limited

Incorporated in Hong
Kong, limited liability
company

HK$10,000

–

100%

Trading of kitchenware
products, Hong Kong

Homespan (HK) Limited

Incorporated in Hong
Kong, limited liability
company

HK$10,000

–

51%

Trading of kitchenware
products, Hong Kong

Manweal Development
Limited
萬維發展有限公司

Incorporated in Hong
Kong, limited liability
company

HK$5,500,000

–

68%

Trading of kitchenware
products, Hong Kong

Ningbo Homesbrands
International Trading
Company Limited*
寧波家之良品國際貿易
有限公司

Incorporated in the PRC,
sino-foreign equity
joint venture

RMB10,000,000

–

51%

Retail and distribution of
kitchenware products,
the PRC

Incorporated in the PRC,
Youxiang (Shanghai)
wholly-owned foreign
Commercial & Trade
enterprise
Company Limited*
悠享（上海）商貿有限公司

RMB1,000,000

–

51%

Retail, wholesale
and distribution of
kitchenware products,
the PRC

Incorporated in Hong
Kong, limited liability
company

HK$10,000

–

100%

Trading of kitchenware
products, Hong Kong

Gloxis Development Limited Incorporated in Hong
Kong, limited liability
company

HK$100,000

–

100%

Trading of kitchenware
products, Hong Kong

Company name

Wonder Household Limited

*

Effective interest held by
the Company
Directly
Indirectly

Principal activity and
place of operation

The English name of the subsidiaries established in the PRC represents management’s best effort at translating the Chinese name
of such subsidiaries for identification purpose only as no English name has been registered.
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37. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affect
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at any time during the year and at the end of the year.

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
38.1 Financial risk factors
The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks in the normal course of business. The Group does not
have written risk management policies and guidelines. However, the directors meet periodically to analyse
and formulate strategies to manage the Group’s exposure to market risks, (specifically to foreign currency
risk, interest rate risk, price risk and fair value risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Generally, the Group utilises
conservative strategies on its risk management. The Group’s exposure to market risk is kept to minimum.
The Group has not used any derivatives or other instruments for hedging purposes. The Group does not issue
derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed are described below. A summary of the
Group’s financial assets and liabilities by category is shown in note 38.2.

(a)

Foreign currency risk
Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Group mainly operates and invests in Hong Kong with most of the transactions denominated and
settled in HK$, US$ and RMB respectively. No foreign currency risk has been identified for the financial
assets and financial liabilities denominated in RMB, which is the functional currency of the subsidiaries
in the PRC to which these transactions relate. As US$ is pegged to HK$, the Group does not expect
any significant movement in the HK$/US$ exchange rate. No sensitivity analysis in respect of the
Group’s sensitivity analysis in respect of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities denominated in US$
is disclosed as in the opinion of directors, such sensitivity analysis does not give additional value in view
of insignificant movement in the US$/HK$ exchange rates as at the reporting dates.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
38.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Foreign currency risk arises from the Group’s financial assets and liabilities, which were denominated in
RMB other than the functional currency at the end of each reporting period are as follows:

Trade and bills receivables
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Cash and bank balances
Trade and bills payables
Deposits received, other payables and accruals
Overall net exposure

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

–
189
19,095
(14,839)
(1,593)

268
43
2,880
(19,879)
(1,112)

2,852

(17,800)

The following table indicates the approximate effect on the profit for the year in response to reasonably
possible changes in the foreign exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, to which the
Group has significant exposure at the end of each reporting period. The appreciation and depreciation
of 4% in HK$ exchange rate against RMB represents management’s assessment of a reasonably
possible change in currency exchange rate over the reporting periods.
Increase/(Decrease)
on profit for the year

RMB to HK$
Appreciation by 4%
Depreciation by 4%

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

95
(95)

(595)
595

The measures to manage foreign currency risk have been followed by the Group since prior years and
are considered to be effective.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
38.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b)

Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument would fail to discharge its
obligation under the terms of the financial instruments and cause a financial loss to the Group.
The objective of the Group’s measures to manage credit risk is to control potential exposure to
recoverability problem. Most of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are held in major reputable
financial institutions in Hong Kong and the PRC, which management believes are of high credit quality.
The Group has policies in place to ensure that service rendered and sales of goods are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history and the Group assesses the credit worthiness and financial
strength of its customers as well as considering prior dealing history with the customers. Generally
customers are granted credit terms ranging from 7 to 90 days. Management makes periodic collective
assessment as well as individual assessment on the recoverability of trade and other receivables based
on historical payment records, the length of the overdue period, the financial strength of the debtors
and whether there are any disputes with the debtors.
The Group has concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables. As at 31 December 2015,
the Group’s trade receivables due from 3 (2014: 4) customers, of approximately HK$93,561,000 (2014:
HK$104,078,000) represented 73% (2014: 72%) of trade receivables.
These customers are in good settlement records and reputation. The management believes that the
credit risk on the amount due is minimal.
The Group has assessed the recoverability of all overdue receivables. The directors of the Company
consider that no provision is necessary to cover the credit risk by reference to the counterparty’s
default history, except for certain trade receivables of which provision is made as further detailed in note
21 to the financial statements.
The measures to manage credit risk have been followed by the Group since prior years and are
considered to be effective.

(c)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk means the risk on the fluctuation of fair value on future cash flows of financial
instruments which arise from changes in interest rates. Floating interest rate instruments will result in the
Group facing the risk of changes in market interest rate, and fixed interest rate instruments will result in
the Group fair value interest rate risk.
Other than pledged bank deposits (note 24), cash and bank balances (note 25), bills payables (note 26)
and bank borrowings (note 28), the Group does not have any other significant interest-bearing financial
assets and liabilities. Any change in the interest rate promulgated by banks from time to time is not
considered to have significant impact to the Group.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
38.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(c)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the floating rate borrowings. Borrowings at floating
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
At 31 December 2015, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 50 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would increase/decrease the Group’s profit for the year
(through the impact on the Group’s cash and bank balances, bank borrowings and bills payables which
are subject to floating interest rate) by approximately HK$1,684,000 (2014: HK$480,000). No impact
would be on other components of consolidated equity in response to the general increase/decrease in
interest rates.
The sensitivity analysis as above has been determined assuming that the change in interest rates
had occurred at each of reporting date and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for
financial instruments in existence at that date. The 50 basis point increase or decrease represents the
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest rates over the period until the
next annual reporting date.
The measures to manage interest rate risk have been followed by the Group since prior years and are
considered to be effective.

(d)

Price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments in equity securities which are
classified as financial assets measured at available-for-sale financial assets. The directors manage this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risk and return profiles and followed
by the Group since prior years and are considered to be effective. The Group are not exposed to
commodity price risk.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
38.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(d)

Price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity as if equity prices had increased/(decreased) by 10%
change in the fair values of the equity investments, with all other variables held constant, after any
impact of tax for each reporting date. For the purpose of this analysis, for the available-for-sale equity
investments, the impact is deemed to be on the revaluation reserve and no account is given for factors
such as impairment which might impact the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Effect on percentage change:
Increase/(decrease) by 10% in equity price

(e)

Carrying
Amount
HK$’000

Increase/
(decrease)
in profit for
the year
HK$’000

Increase/
(decrease)
in revaluation
reserve
HK$’000

At 31 December 2015
Available-for-sale financial assets
– Listed equity securities in HK

33,821

–

3,382/(3,382)

At 31 December 2014
Available-for-sale financial assets
– Listed equity securities in HK

38,291

–

3,829/(3,829)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its obligations associated with
its financial liabilities. The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding
and flexibility through the use of bank borrowings, also regularly monitor its liquidity requirements, its
compliance with lending covenants and its relationship with its bankers to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. In addition, banking facilities have been put
in place for contingency purposes.
The Group’s liquidity position is monitored on a daily basis by the management.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
38.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(e)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
The following table summarises the remaining contractual maturities at the reporting dates of the
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted payments.
Specifically, for term loans which contain a repayment on demand clause which can be exercised at the
bank’s sole discretion, the analysis shows the cash outflow based on the earliest period in which the
entity can be required to pay. That is if the lenders were to invoke their unconditional rights to call the
loans with immediate effect.

At 31 December 2015
Trade and bills payables
Other payables and accruals
Bank borrowings*
Loans from non-controlling interests

At 31 December 2014
Trade payables
Other payables and accruals
Bank borrowings*
Loans from non-controlling interests

*

Carrying
amount
HK$’000

Total
contractual
undiscounted
cash flow
HK$’000

Within
1 year or
on demand
HK$’000

More than
1 year
HK$’000

66,752
55,960
480
26,005

66,752
55,960
480
26,005

66,752
55,960
480
9,448

–
–
–
16,557

149,197

149,197

132,640

16,557

90,198
41,692
10,268
27,155

90,198
41,692
10,268
27,155

90,198
41,692
10,268
14,239

–
–
–
12,916

169,313

169,313

156,397

12,916

Balance included term loans which are subject to repayment on demand clauses.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
38.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(e)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
The measures to manage liquidity risk have been followed by the Group since prior years and are
considered to be effective.
The table that follows summarises the maturity analysis of term loans with a repayment on demand
clause based on agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan agreements. Taking into account the
Group’s financial position, the directors do not consider that it is probable that the bank will exercise its
discretion to demand immediate repayment. The directors believe that such term loans will be repaid in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

(f)

Carrying
amount
HK$’000

Total
contractual
undiscounted
cash flow
HK$’000

Within 1 year
HK$’000

More than
1 year but
less than
5 years
HK$’000

At 31 December 2015

480

485

485

–

At 31 December 2014

1,187

1,213

728

485

Fair value risk
The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are not materially different from their carrying
amounts because of the immediate or the short term maturity of those financial instruments. The
following table presents assets measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position
in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. The hierarchy groups assets into three levels based on the
relative reliability of significant inputs used in measuring the fair value of these assets. The fair value
hierarchy has the following levels:
Level 1:

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets;

Level 2:

inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3:

inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial asset is categorised in its entirety is based
on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
38.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(f)

Fair value risk (Continued)
The financial assets measured at fair value as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 in the
condensed consolidated statement of financial position are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as
follows:
Level 1
HK$’000

Level 2
HK$’000

Level 3
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

31 December 2015
Available-for-sale financial assets
– Listed equity securities, at fair values

33,821

–

–

33,821

31 December 2014
Available-for-sale financial assets
– Listed equity securities, at fair values

38,291

–

–

38,291

Recurring fair value measurement

The listed equity securities at fair values are denominated in HK$. Fair values have been determined by
reference to their quoted market prices at the reporting date.
During the year ended 31 December 2015, there have been no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2014: Nil).
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
38.2 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as recognised at each reporting dates are
also analysed into the following categories. See notes 4.10 and 4.11 for explanations about how the category
of financial instruments affects their subsequent measurement.

Financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
Loans and receivables
– Trade and bills receivables
– Other deposits and other receivables
– Amount due from an associate
– Pledged bank deposits
– Cash and bank balances

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
– Trade and bills payables
– Other payables and accruals
– Bank borrowings
– Loans from non-controlling interests

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

33,821

38,291

127,689
19,583
187
28,904
406,922

144,639
2,252
2,046
20,895
125,211

617,106

333,334

66,752
55,960
480
26,005

90,198
41,692
10,268
27,155

149,197

169,313

39. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Group’s capital management objectives are:
(i)

to ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern; and

(ii)

to provide an adequate return to equity holders.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher owners’ returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions. The directors of the Company also balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years
ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.
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39. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)
The Group sets the amount of equity in proportion to its overall financing structure. The equity-to-overall financing
ratios at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

Total equity
Overall financing
Bank borrowings
Loans from non-controlling interests

Equity-to-overall financing ratio

2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

556,733

246,946

480
26,005

10,268
27,155

26,485

37,423

21.0:1

6.6:1

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall
strategy remained unchanged throughout the reporting periods.

40. CREDIT FACILITIES
As at 31 December 2015, the Group has obtained banking facilities, including term loans, bills payables and bank
overdrafts, of totalling HK$183,396,000 (2014: HK$140,037,000) and US$3,159,000 (2014: US$2,340,000), of
which HK$3,480,000 (2014: HK$10,268,000) has been utilised by the Group. As at 31 December 2015, the Group
has unutilised banking facilities of approximately HK$179,916,000 (2014: HK$129,769,000) and US$3,159,000
(2014: US$2,340,000) available for draw down.
As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s banking facilities were secured/guaranteed by the followings:
(a)

pledge of leasehold land and building with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$21,159,000 (note 15).

(b)

pledged bank deposits of HK$28,904,000 (note 24).

(c)

unlimited corporate guarantee provided by the Company (note 34.1(d)).

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s banking facilities were secured/guaranteed by the followings:
(a)

pledge of leasehold land and building with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$21,943,000 (note 15).

(b)

pledged bank deposits of HK$20,895,000 (note 24).

(c)

unlimited personal guarantees given by the Company’s directors, Mr. Wong and the Company’s ex-director,
Ms. Cheng (note 34.1(d)).
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HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

2012
HK$’000

2011
HK$’000

1,394,635

1,359,459

1,236,284

1,077,351

968,505

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

194,107
(32,031)

116,650
(23,496)

96,483
(18,150)

83,725
(15,517)

65,308
(19,860)

Profit for the year

162,076

93,154

78,333

68,208

45,448

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

163,545
(1,469)

95,146
(1,992)

82,887
(4,554)

70,356
(2,148)

45,033
415

162,076

93,154

78,333

68,208

45,448

Financial results
Revenue

As at 31 December
2015
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

2012
HK$’000

2011
HK$’000

63,344

55,108

61,451

35,887

38,003

Current assets
Current liabilities

659,646
141,384

377,711
165,831

397,049
238,134

337,511
185,392

324,350
204,967

Net current assets

518,262

211,880

158,915

152,119

119,383

24,873

20,042

22,535

4,240

4,384

556,733

246,946

197,831

183,766

153,002

Assets and liabilities
Non-current assets

Non-current liabilities
Net assets
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